Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

Breastfeeding practices in New Zealand during the first year postpartum

A thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for

the degree of

Master of Science

in

Human Nutrition

at Massey University, Manawatu, Palmerston North,

New Zealand

Ruimin Jia

2014

Abstract

There is a lack of research observing breastfeeding (BF) practices in detail globally and in New Zealand (NZ). This longitudinal study examined BF patterns and the association between BF duration and frequency per day in NZ infants from the birth to 12 months old. A total of 61 self-selected women in the Manawatu region were recruited during the last stage of pregnancy. The average age was 32.1 ± 0.6 years.

BF practices were obtained by 24-hour recall noting all of the infant's activities through a telephone interview. The interviews were conducted at approximately 2 weeks after birth and then at 2 weekly intervals during the first three months, and then once per month until the infants first birthday.

Results show that the majority of infants during the first four weeks postpartum were fully BF (81% at two weeks & 82% at four weeks), 8% infants were mixed-fed and 10% had stopped BF by four weeks. At 16 weeks, 61% infants were fully BF, and 9% infants had been introduced to complementary foods (CF). At 24 weeks, most infants (93%) were no longer fully BF and 24% were receiving no breastmilk. At 48 weeks, 48% infants had stopped BF.

Regarding BF patterns, throughout the first 48 weeks postpartum there was a wide variation of BF frequency/day, the longest interval between BF and the length of BF sessions. For example, at two weeks fully BF infants were fed from 5-21 times/day (interquartile range (IQR): 8-10 times/day); at 48 weeks BF infants receiving CF had from 1-22 breastfeeds/day (IQR: 3-8.3 times/day). For the longest interval between BF, at two weeks for fully BF infants the longest interval ranged from 3-10 hours (IQR:4.3-5.5 hours), and at 48 weeks for BF infants receiving CF the longest interval

ranged from 3-24 hours (IQR:6.4-12.5 hours). The length of BF session, at two weeks ranged from 2-205 minutes/feed (IQR: 12-30 minutes) for fully BF infants, and at 48 weeks ranged from 4-85 minutes/feed (IQR: 5-15 minutes) for BF infants receiving CF.

At the majority of observations there was a significantly lower BF frequency/day and longer longest interval between breastfeeds for mixed-fed infants compared to infants who were fully BF (p<0.05). For instance, at four weeks, median BF frequency/day for mixed-fed infants was five times/day, and for fully breastfed infants ten times/day; at 16 weeks the median BF frequency, for mixed-fed infants was 6.5 times/day, and for fully breastfed infants 9.5 times. At four weeks, the median of the longest interval between breastfeeds for mixed-fed infants was 8.5 hours, and for fully breastfed infants five hours; at 16 weeks, for mixed-fed infants the median was 11.8 hours, and for fully breastfed infants 6.2 hours. There was generally no significant difference in the length of BF sessions between these two groups (p>0.05).

There was a significantly positive, but weak correlation between BF duration and BF frequency/day at two weeks (p<0.01; r=0.352) and four weeks (p<0.01; r=0.404), and between BF duration and BF frequency/day of fully BF infants at four weeks (p<0.05; r=0.289). There was no significant correlation between duration of BF/fully BF and maternal and infant characteristics, with the exception of parity (there was a positive association between parity of two or more and BF duration, p<0.05).

Case studies were made of four participants who were still breastfeeding their babies at 48 weeks and whose frequency of feeding in the first four weeks after birth was outside of the often recommended 8-12 times/day. Results show that their BF practices varied widely between women during 48 weeks. BF frequency and the total length of BF sessions decreased over time. For two infants who had higher BF frequency in the first four weeks, BF frequency remained relatively high through the end of the first year. For another two infants who had lower BF frequency in the first four weeks, BF frequency remained relatively high the end of the first year. For another two infants who had lower BF frequency in the first four weeks, BF frequency remained relatively low through the end of the first year. For all cases, the total length of BF sessions per day did not generally fluctuate with the changes of BF frequency.

In conclusion, this longitudinal study supplies a detailed picture of BF practices by 24-hour recall. Results show that almost half infants had stopped BF by 48 weeks. There is a wide variation of BF practices associated with successful BF. Therefore, individuals' particularity should be considered when making suggestions to the mother. Overall, this thesis may contribute to the literature on BF practices in NZ.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and respect to my supervisors Janet Weber and Louise Brough for giving me the opportunity to join this breastfeeding project, and for your contributions of time and knowledge. Without your constant guidance, patient instruction, insightful criticism, understanding and encouragement, this thesis could not have been completed.

Special thanks to Elizabeth Reynolds for her ideas, guidance and encouragement for my writing, and Lois Wilkinson as well in the centre for teaching and learning. I appreciate Levin Matthew for his IT support and all the other staff in the Institute of Food Nutrition and Human Health for their help.

I would like to greatly thank all my friends, particularly to Zhongling, Keven, Jiaojiao, Yapsia Yen, Lili, Pankai, Ivy, Fisher, Jingjing, LuLu, Wei Zhang, Tao, Fang, Teacher Yan, Daisy for the sleepless nights we spent together, for being by my side, and for your encouragement and support. I will never forget the wonderful time we have had in NZ. You have been part of my life.

I would like to extend my deep gratitude to my god-parents Alex Chu and Janey Chu for their support and love. I am so lucky and proud to be a goddaughter for both of you and have a home in NZ. I appreciate the marvellous arrangement by the fate.

Last but not least, many thanks go to my beloved parents and younger brother for being a constant source of strength and inspiration to pursue my academic goals.

Contents

3.2 Data collection
3.2.1 24-hour recall
3.3 Handling of data
3.3.1 Data cleaning & coding
3.3.2 Selecting participants for case study
3.4 Data analysis
Chapter Four Result
4.1 Participants
4.1.1 Maternal demographic characteristics
4.1.2 Maternal obstetric factors and past feeding experience
4.1.3 Infant characteristics
4.2 Infant feeding patterns
4.2.1 Breastfeeding practice
4.2.2 Breastfeeding frequency
4.2.3 Longest interval between breastfeeds
4.2.4 Length of breastfeeding sessions
4.3 Breastfeeding frequency and duration
4.3.1 The association between breastfeeding frequency and breastfeeding duration 61
4.4 Association of breastfeeding duration with maternal and infant characteristics62
4.5 Case study— respondents breastfed infants till 48 weeks
4.5.1 Cases with lower BF frequency during the first four weeks postpartum
4.5.2 Cases with higher BF frequency during the first four weeks postpartum74
Chapter Five Discussion
5.1 Method
5.2 Demographic characteristics
5.3 Percentage breastfeeding during the first 12 months
5.4 Breastfeeding frequency
5.4.1 The variation of breastfeeding frequency

5.4.2 The difference of breastfeeding frequency among feed types	90
5.5 Longest intervals between breastfeeds	91
5.5.1 The variation of longest interval between breastfeeds	91
5.5.2 The difference of longest interval between breastfeeds among breastfeeding typ	es 93
5.6 Length of breastfeeding sessions	93
5.6.1 The variation of the length of breastfeeding sessions	.93
5.6.2 Changes of the length of breastfeeding sessions over time	95
5.7 The association between breastfeeding frequency/day at 2 and 4 weeks and breastfeeding duration	.96
5.8 Association of breastfeeding duration with maternal and infant characteristics	97
5.9 Case studies	98
5.10 Limitations & strengths of this study1	.00
Chapter Six Conclusion1	02
References	06
Appendices1	20
Appendix A:	20
Appendix B:1	31

List of Tables

Table 4.1. The number and percentage of respondents at each observed time point(approximate age of infants) during the first year postpartum
Table 4.2. Demographic and obstetric characteristics of participants and infants36
Table 4.3. The number and percentage of breastfeeding among different feeding practices at different ages
Table 4.4. Breastfeeding frequency per 24 hours among different feeding typesduring the first 12 months45
Table 4.5. The longest interval between breastfeeds (hours) among different feedingtypes during the first 12 months
Table 4.6. Length of breastfeeding session (minutes) among different feeding types during the first 12 months 55
Table 4.7. Correlation between BF frequency and BF duration 61
Table 4.8. Maternal characteristics and full-BF duration 62
Table 4.9. Maternal characteristics and breastfeeding duration 63
Table 5.1. BF rates: comparison of current study to national data
Table 5.2. Summary of BF frequency of research studies 89
Table 5.3. Summary of the longest interval between breastfeeds of research studies
Table 5.4. Summary of the length of BF sessions of research studies

List of Figures

Figure 4.1. The percentage of breastfeeding among different feeding types at different ages
Figure 4.2. Breastfeeding frequency per 24 hours among different feeding practices during the first 12 months of infants age
Figure 4.3. The longest interval between breastfeeds (hours) during 12 months among different feeding types
Figure 4.4. The length of breastfeeding sessions among different feeding types during 12 months
Figure 4.5. The length of breastfeeding session among different feeding types during 12 months including all observations
Figure 4.6. Length of breastfeeding session at two weeks of infants' age
Figure 4.7. Length of breastfeeding session at four weeks of infants' age
Figure 4.8. Length of breastfeeding session at 24 weeks of infants' age60
Figure 4.9. Length of breastfeeding session per day at 48 weeks of infants' age60
Figure 4.10. Breastfeeding practices for the respondent AO who has low BF frequency at four weeks
Figure 4.11. Breastfeeding practices for the respondent BG who has low BF frequency at two weeks
Figure 4.12. Breastfeeding practices for the respondent BA who has high BF frequency at two weeks
Figure 4.13. Breastfeeding practices for the respondent BD who has high BF frequency at four week

List of Abbreviations

BF	Breastfeeding
BFCI	The Baby Friendly Community Initiative
BFHI	The Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative
CF	Complementary foods
IQR	Interquartile range
NZ	New Zealand
NZBA	The New Zealand Breastfeeding Authority
WHO	World Health Organization

х

Chapter One Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Breastmilk is the primary food to support infant growth and development. In New Zealand (NZ), breastfeeding (BF) was the social norm but started to change by the middle 1800s, after which time bottle feeding became fashionable. This was accompanied with an upsurge of commercial manufacturer of infant formula. Urban and middle class families especially perceived bottle feeding to be a comfortable lifestyle — easy, time-saving and convenient (National Breastfeeding Campaign, 2010). Recently, the benefits of BF have been widely documented and BF has been advocated (Ministry of Health, 2008).

BF not only just supplies an ideal food for the infant, but is also a safeguard against many diseases for mothers (psychological depression, possibly reducing ovarian and breast cancer), and for infants (immunological diseases including ear, gastrointestinal and respiratory infections, food allergen, sudden infant death syndrome). It may also have a far-reaching influence on infants' health status in later life (Fisher, 2010).

The NZ Ministry of Health has set improving the duration of exclusive/full BF and BF as a target to be achieved (Ministry of Health, 2007 & 2008a). Therefore, they have made many efforts to promote BF. Two national programs regarding BF — the Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative (BFHI) and the Baby Friendly Community Initiative (BFCI) were launched by the NZ Ministry of Health (Ministry of Health, 2002). Almost all maternity services have obtained Baby Friendly Hospital

accreditation (Fisher, 2010). The New Zealand Breastfeeding Authority (NZBA) is a non-profit organization which was created in 1997-8, and its primary purpose is to promote BF in NZ through support and development of the BFHI and the BFCI in NZ (Ministry of Health, 2002 & 2009). BF is also supported by the Plunket Society and La Leche League. There are other supporting groups and campaigns such as World Breastfeeding Week held every year during the first week of August (Ministry of Health, 2002).

In NZ, the rate of BF initiation is high by international standards, but the rate of exclusive/full BF till six months and BF till 12 months has not reached the target set by the NZ Ministry of Health in 2002. Therefore, extending the duration of BF and full/exclusive BF is a mission of the NZ government (Ministry of Health, 2009). There have been many studies identifying influential factors on BF practices. However, there have been few studies examining BF patterns. Only four published studies have specifically observed detailed BF practices in developed countries: Salariya and other researchers in UK (1978), Hörnell and colleagues in Sweden (1999 & 2001), and Shealy and co-workers in US (2008).

In order to understand BF problems and difficulties, and supply practical information to develop appropriate strategies for promoting BF, it is necessary to observe BF practices. This study is going to describe BF practices of NZ mother infant pairs through the first year after birth.

Chapter Two Literature Review

2.1 The context of breastfeeding

2.1.1 Beneficial effects of breastfeeding

2.1.1.1 Specificity of human milk

The protein in human milk is different from that in cow's milk, which is the major source of protein in most infant formula (Le Huerou-Luron et al., 2010). Formula has higher protein content and higher ratio of casein to whey than human milk (El-Agamy, 2007). In breastmilk the ratio of whey to casein is about 80:20 or 90:10 during the first few days after the birth, to 60:40 during the period of established lactation (about 2-3 months), and 50:50 during the later term of lactation (Le Huerou-Luron et al., 2010; Darragh & Lönnerdal, 2011). Moreover, the lactose and lipids have a lower concentration in the early breastmilk, compared to that in infant formula. All these components of the breastmilk can make it easier for the infant to digest and more effectively utilise the nutrients, and are beneficial to the development of the infant's digestive tract, compared to infant formula (Le Huerou-Luron et al., 2010).

The non-nutritional components in human milk include growth factors, nucleotides, immunologic components, maternal antibodies, hormones, enzymes and cytokines; these may not only modulate and support organs development (especially the digestive system), and accelerate the infant's own defence system maturity, but may also have a protective effect against many illnesses (particularly against infectious illnesses) (Weaver, 1997; Le Huerou-Luron et al., 2010; Moreno-Villares &

Galiano-Segovia, 2013). Compared to breastfed babies, formula fed babies have more health problems (National Breastfeeding Advisory Committee, 2009).

2.1.1.2 Benefits to infants of breastfeeding

In NZ, promoting BF is one of the strategies to achieve the national health goals to improve nutrition and reduce obesity and other diseases, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes and cancers (Ministry of Health, 2002 & 2008). Specific to the infant, BF not only supplies the best food for them, but also has many health benefits. Breastmilk is easily digested, and supplies enough energy and all nutrients requirements for infants during the first six months after the birth (Campbell, 1996; Moreno-Villares & Galiano-Segovia, 2013). It promotes the development of organs and defence systems, and also protects against many diseases (gastroenteritis, infections of respiratory tract and urinary tract, and other viral and bacterial illnesses) (Amir & Livingstone, 2010; Le Huerou-Luron et al., 2010), and help to decrease infant hospitalisation and mortality (Campbell, 1996; Bachrach et al., 2003; Ministry of Health, 2008).

These health benefits have been acknowledged in western society (Bachrach et al., 2003; Ministry of Health, 2008). In NZ, not breastfeeding was reported to be one of risk factors for sudden infant death syndrome (Davidson-Rada et al., 1995; Mitchell et al., 1994 & 1997 & 2001). Not exclusively BF during the first six months may increase the incidence and severity of acute lower respiratory tract infections, and even result in death from such illness (Grant et al., 2011). Some other health benefits of BF still require more research including the roles in preventing

cardiovascular diseases, diabetes (WHO, 2007 & 2013; Chung et al., 2007) and overweight/obesity (WHO, 2007; Chung et al., 2007; Cope & Allison, 2008).

2.1.1.3 Benefits to mothers of breastfeeding

BF has benefits for the mother as well. It may help women to lose body weight gained during pregnancy (Campbell, 1996; Moreno-Villares & Galiano-Segovia, 2013), to build a close relationship with their babies (Jansen et al., 2008), to prevent pregnancy (Campbell, 1996; Lawrence, 2000), and to prevent postpartum depression (Lawrence, 2000; Chung et al., 2007; Moreno-Villares & Galiano-Segovia, 2013). BF is associated with decreased risk of some cancers (Bartick, 2013; Salone et al., 2013), such as breast cancer (Do Carmo França-Botelho, 2012) and ovarian cancer (Jordan, 2012; Feng et al., 2014). More research is needed to reach conclusions about the relationship of BF to type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease (Kelishadi & Farajian, 2014, Chung et al., 2007).

2.1.1.4 Social benefits of breastfeeding

Breastmilk is environmentally friendly — leaves no waste and does not require heating or sterilising of equipment. It has been well documented that BF has an economic contribution, owing to its cost-effectiveness (Amir & Livingstone, 2010). It greatly reduces family expenditure (not need to buy formula) and health care costs by enhancing infant and maternal health and protecting against diseases (Smith et al., 2002; Amir & Livingstone, 2010). Hospital costs towards infants illnesses related to early cessation of BF (gastrointestinal, respiratory disease, otitis media, necrotising enterocolitis and eczema) in the Australian Capital Territory were estimated to be about \$1-2 million per year (Smith et al., 2002). A 2007 a US report by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality stated that suboptimal BF rates lead to excessive social costs It estimated that if 90% infants could follow the WHO and infant deaths. recommendation — six months of exclusively BF, the United States would save \$13 billion a year and save approximate 900 lives. This included both indirect and direct expenses of all paediatric illnesses which may be protected against by BF, and the expenses of premature death (Bartick & Reinhold, 2010). These studies advocated that improving exclusive BF duration would be an important approach to save costs and benefit the society. In NZ, the Ministry of Health states that BF can save public money as well (Ministry of Health, 2007; Fisher, 2010). If 50% infants are exclusively BF to six months, hospital costs for treating infants aged under 12 months would be reduced about \$12.7 million per year (Fisher, 2010).

2.1.2 Breastfeeding rate in New Zealand

According to data reported by the Plunket Society (2010), there has been a significant increase in the rate of BF in NZ during the last 30 years. Data recorded during the first Plunket visit between 2-6 weeks of age show rate for any BF increased from the low around 48% in 1968-1969 to around 84% in 2010. In the last ten years of this report period, the rate for any BF has shown no noticeable change or improvement, remaining at about 80%.

Through many efforts to encourage BF, a high BF initiation rate of 94% has been achieved in NZ. The challenge is to improve the BF rate at six weeks, 12 weeks, 24 weeks and beyond (Ministry of Health, 2009). The exclusive and full BF rate decreased greatly after the first 6 weeks and has not met targets set by the Ministry of Health in 2002. Specifically, in 2009, the exclusive and full BF rate was about 65% for 2-5 weeks, and decreased to about 55% for 10-15 weeks, and then continued to drop to about 26% for the period between 16 weeks to seven months (Plunket Society, 2010). According to the Growing Up in NZ (2012), median age of stopping exclusive BF was 3.85 months, and 94% of mothers stopped exclusive BF by 24 weeks. The BF rate varies between ethnic groups in NZ. Generally, Maori, Pacific and Asian have a lower BF rate than the rest of the NZ population (Plunket Society, 2010).

Facing a low prevalence of BF, NZ is not alone. Actually, it is also a key challenge worldwide. According to a recent review paper, more than half the infants under four months throughout the world are not exclusively breastfed and even fewer are exclusively breastfed for the optimum six months, although differences exist between areas (Moreno-Villares & Galiano-Segovia, et al., 2013). Specifically, Southeast Asia had the highest rate of exclusive BF compared to other regions. The European country Spain had 52.5% and 24.7% infants who were exclusively breastfed for about four and six months, respectively, and Sweden had 56.2% and 12.3% infants. UK had less than 1% infants exclusively breastfed for six months, and Norway had only 9%. Australia had a relatively higher percent of exclusively breastfed infants of about 19% to six months (Moreno- Villares & Galiano-Segovia, 2013).

2.1.3 BF recommendations

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends six months of exclusive BF, and then introduction of complementary foods (CF) and continuation of BF up to two years or beyond (WHO, 2002).

The NZ Ministry of Health recommends exclusive BF duration of around six months, and then introduction of appropriate CF and continuing BF up to one year or beyond (Ministry of Health, 2011).

The WHO BF recommendation is a global health target, aimed at decreasing infant morbidity and mortality. For infants in developed countries, exclusive BF for 6 months seems to have no adverse effect on infants' health and development. Conversely, six months BF has health benefits, compared to earlier introduction of CF (WHO 2002; Kramer & Kakuma, 2012). From around six months, breastmilk alone does not provide enough energy and nutrients for infant development. Hence, other foods are needed to complement breastmilk to provide additional nutrients for growth and development. WHO recommends that BF should last for at least 2 years, since its continuation may make a positive contribution to overall health, even in adult life (WHO & UNICEF, 2009).

The NZ recommendation is slightly different from the WHO recommendation. NZ recommends BF for at least a year, rather than 2 years. This is because it was felt that 2 years may be an unrealistic target, particularly for Maori and Pacific Island women, whose BF statistics lag behind NZ European women (Ministry of Health, 2008b). NZ mothers commonly give CF to infants too early (between 4-6 months), and therefore the NZ government has made efforts to try to increase

the age of introducing complementary foods and prolong exclusive BF duration (Ministry of Health, 2008).

2.2 Factors affecting breastfeeding duration

There are a number of factors which have been shown to affect BF duration in Western Countries, including NZ. A review article by Thulier and Mercer (2009), classified factors into four categories: biological factors, which include insufficient milk supply, delivery methods, maternal and infant physical problems, maternal obesity, smoking and parity; social factors such as social and family support, maternal employment; psychological factors such as maternal confidence and intention, depression and stress; and demographic factors such as maternal education, age and race, marital situation, and family income. The following review will be structured based on these categories.

2.2.1 Biological factors

Insufficient milk supply is consistently documented in the literature as a primary reason for women worldwide introducing artificial milk and stopping BF (Henly et al., 1995; Thulier & Mercer, 2009). Some NZ studies have also found that insufficient milk supply is one of top risk factors associated with shorter duration of exclusive BF, and any BF (Essex et al., 1995; Heath et al., 2002; Butler et al., 2002 & 2004).

The Growing Up in NZ study observed that 52% women (total No. =6234 from three regions: Auckland, Counties-Manukau and Waikato) stopped BF by nine months. This was attributed to many factors including returning to work, babies unsatisfied by only feeding breastmilk (i.e. mothers' perception that the baby was still hungry), and babies weaning themselves, but the major reason was insufficient breastmilk (Morton et al., 2012). A NZ cohort study that focused on the Pacific population found that reporting of insufficient milk supply was high, but varied among women with different feeding approaches - it was reported by 21% of women who were exclusive BF, by over 50% of women who were mixed feeding (breast and formula), and 53% reporting from women exclusively formula feeding (Butler et al., 2002). When considering reasons for insufficient milk supply, it is important to note that there may be several maternal factors affecting it, some physical (fatigue, sleep disturbances, and breast pain) and some psychological (stress, less intention and confidence). However, it is estimated that only 5% women are physically unable to produce enough breastmilk, due to biological factors such as damaged duct and neurological system, or the inappropriate concentration of hormones (prolactin, oxytocin and oestrogen) (Thulier & Mercer, 2009; Kent et al., 2012), and deficient glandular tissue (Neifert et al., 1985; Kent et al., 2012). How BF is practiced and managed will influence milk supply, and will be discussed in section three.

Perceived insufficient milk supply may result in actual secondary insufficient milk supply, since perceived insufficient milk may lead to ineffective milk removal (e.g. by introduction of 'top up' formula) which will reduce milk supply (Fraser & Cullen, 2009). Perceived insufficient milk supply is thought to occur more often than primary insufficient milk supply, because indicators of insufficient milk supply which are often reported by mothers, such as infant crying, fussiness and wakefulness are not reliable indicators of milk supply. Such indicators can be related to receiving insufficient milk by the infant and also can be related to normal behaviours of the infant (Gatti, 2008; Kent et al., 2012). Hence, to avoid perceived insufficient milk supply and increase the rate of BF, it seems that women may need to be educated to know some signs of normal BF (Heath et al., 2002). For instance, signs that BF is adequate (after 4th day) include wet diapers \geq 6/day and the breast becoming softer and lighter as the feeding session progresses (Smith & Tully, 2001).

Another important biological factor affecting BF in NZ is maternal smoking. Maternal smoking has been identified by several studies as being associated with shorter BF duration (Ford et al, 1994; Butler et al., 2002 & 2004). Women who smoked more than 20 cigarettes daily were twice as likely to give up BF after leaving hospital (Ford et al., 1994). The 2012 report of the Growing Up in NZ indicated that 11% of women smoked when they were pregnant, and this increased to 14% by the time of the infant was nine months old (Morton et al., 2012).

Maternal obesity has been associated with a delayed lactogenesis II (which occurs usually by approximately four days after birth, when the milk secretion increases (Hill et al., 1999; Kent, 2007)) and lower milk production, and therefore can lead to early cessation of BF (Amir & Donath, 2007). Another important physical factor which has been identified in NZ women is maternal pain during lactation (sore breasts) (Butler et al., 2002; Heath et al., 2002). Some delivery methods and practices have also been associated with reduced BF duration. These include caesarean delivery (Butler et al., 2004) and the use of epidural pain relief (Henderson et al., 2003). The majority of NZ women (around 66%) have a spontaneous vaginal delivery (Morton et al., 2012).

2.2.2 Social factors

Social factors also influence the duration of BF. Maternal support and information have an important effect on BF practices and duration. In western countries, a number of social factors have been identified as having a negative impact. In the early and middle part of last century, western doctors played a large role in the "medicalization" of BF, and women's attempts to breastfeed were often undermined by advice from their doctor to bottle feed (Ryan & Grace, 2001). In NZ, medicalization was associated with hospitalization of women for childbirth and health professionals advocating strictly timed feeding regimes (Ryan & Grace, 2001).

The Growing Up in NZ study found women seek information and support from Plunket nurses, family and friends, books, internet and magazines, their GP and midwife, and to a lesser extent from pharmacists (Morton et al., 2012). The quality of this information is clearly essential. For example, amongst Pacific Island people in NZ, consulting a traditional healer tended to reduce the duration of BF (Butler et al., 2002). It was suggested that Pacific Island women need formal educational support for BF (Butler et al., 2002). Support from friends and family is also an important factor in promoting BF success, and in particular support from the partner (Thulier & Mercer, 2009). In a NZ study, 12% of mothers stated that their partner felt formula feeding or other alternative liquids feeding was more convenient than BF (Heath et al., 2002). This study suggested that enhancing partner support is important for NZ women to continue to breastfeed their baby.

Returning to work has been negatively associated with BF initiation and continuation (Chatterji & Frick, 2005; Rondo & Souza, 2007). The Growing Up in NZ Study found that 79% of women were in paid employment by the time their baby was nine

12

months old (Morton et al., 2012). Generally for a full-time job, NZ women have to work more than 35 hours/week (Statistics New Zealand, 2005). They are enabled by law to have paid parental leave for 14 weeks when they meet certain criteria. They are also able to extend such leave period without pay till 52 weeks postpartum (Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, 2012). Women in NZ also expect to take leave when the baby is born. The Growing Up in NZ study reported that more than 95% of women with paid employment during the pregnancy intended to take parental leave, with eight to nine months (the average expectation) (Morton et al., 2010).

Cultural differences also influence BF duration. Maori, Pacific Island and Asian women in NZ have a lower rate of BF than European. In 2009, the rate of exclusive and full BF for infants aged from 2-5 weeks was 59% in the Maori population, 54% in the Pacific population, 60% in the Asian population, and 70% in the rest of the population (mostly European). Between 16 weeks to 7 months the rate of exclusive and full BF was 19% in the Maori population, 20% in the Pacific population, 19% in the Asian population, and 30% in the rest of the population (Plunket Society, 2010). This is in contrast to the historical situation of Maori before European colonization, when all infants were breastfed and lactating mothers were valued and supported. From colonial times, Maori and Pacific Islanders tend to have a lower socioeconomic status than other ethnic groups, which could also have the effect of reducing BF rates (National Breastfeeding Advisory Committee, 2007).

2.2.3 Psychological factors

Factors which have been associated with successful BF include a mother's interest and confidence in BF, her intention to breastfeed (Morton et al., 2012) and belief that she can do it (self-efficacy) (National Breastfeeding Advisory Committee, 2007). Some factors which have been found to work against BF include embarrassment at feeding, particularly in public, lack of confidence and negative attitude (Heath et al., 2002); Stress, postnatal depression and tiredness also contribute to lack of initiation or early cessation of BF (Butler et al., 2002; Morton et al., 2012).

Perceived insufficient milk supply is also related to psychological factors. In a review by Gatti (2008), perceived insufficient milk was found to be significantly associated with low scores of maternal satisfaction, confidence and self-efficacy. Meedya et al. (2010) indicated that maternal self-efficacy was positively associated with perceived sufficient milk supply.

2.2.4 Demographic factors

Demographic factors are well documented to have an association with BF practices. Callen and Pinelli (2004) reported that in western countries (US. Canada, Europe and Australia) maternal education, age, marital status and family income were associated with BF practice. Women, who were older and married, had better education and higher family incomes were more likely to initiate and continue to breastfeed their babies. These findings were consistent with another review article (Meedya et al., 2010). In the Growing Up in NZ Study, NZ mothers with higher educational qualifications were more likely to plan to BF their infants (Morton et al., 2010), and younger single mothers were more vulnerable to early cessation of BF than others (Morton et al., 2012).

2.3 Breastfeeding patterns

2.3.1 Establishing & controlling breastmilk supply

In NZ, the BF initiation rate is high. However, BF rates decrease dramatically after the first six weeks and do not meet the target set by the NZ Ministry of Health (Ministry of Health, 2002). An insufficient milk supply was reported by New Zealanders to be one of major reasons for stopping BF (Morton et al., 2012).

The initiation and maintenance of lactation requires hormones and effective emptying of the breasts (Hill et al., 1999). There are many hormones involved in lactation, including insulin, thyroid hormones, and cortisol, but the particularly important hormones are prolactin and oxytocin. Prolactin stimulates the initiation of milk synthesis, and is released in response to breast stimulation. The amount of prolactin secreted depends on BF frequency and suckling duration (Hill et al., 1999). In the first few days, night feeds are suggested to increase prolactin (Price & Bamford, 1984).

Oxytocin is released each time the baby suckles (Hill et al., 1999), and stimulates milk ejection (Kent et al., 2007). It is suggested that effective milk ejection helps the drainage of the breast, which then leads to increasing milk production (Kent et al., 2012). The well emptied breast results in a higher rate of breastmilk synthesis, compared to when the breast is not well emptied (Kent et al., 2012). One study found that when the interval between BF was longer than six hours, the rate of

breastmilk synthesis during the period between breastfeeds had a significant decline (Daly et al., 1996). The reason suggested by researchers is that when the breast is well drained, this may help to remove feedback inhibitor (Kent et al., 2012). Early frequent BF and unlimited skin to skin contact facilitate effective breast drainage (Kent et al., 2012). Moreover, milk production is also influenced by other factors such as the breast's ability to store milk the infant's stomach capacity and speed of gastric emptying owing to its impacting on milk intake by the infant (Kent et al., 2012). The basic determinant of milk volume is the infant's demand (Darragh & Lönnerdal, 2011). Hence, the infant has a controlling role in milk production.

The first several weeks are the critical period to establish lactation (Kent et al., 2012). If lactation is well-established, the mother will be able to fully breastfeed the baby, with no need for formula supplementation (Fildes, 1986). During this period, BF practices can have an influence on lactation establishment and subsequent milk production (Yamauchi et al., 1990; Hill et al., 1999; Kent et al., 2012). It appears that frequent BF is necessary to achieve successful lactation (De Carvalho et al., 1983; Hill & Humenick., 1989), which may be due to frequent BF increasing the level of maternal prolactin (Lang, 2002), and increasing the drainage of the breasts (Kent et al., 2012; Prime et al., 2012). It is generally advised that long intervals between BF should be avoided during the early period postpartum (Lang, 2002). However, the length of intervals between BF that could negatively influence milk production lacks scientific support. One Australia study indicated that longer than six hours between BF had a significant decline in the rate of breastmilk synthesis during the period between breastfeeds (Daly et al., 1996). The reason is that the

higher degree of the breast fullness can result in less complete drainage of the breast, therefore lead to autocrine inhibiting milk synthesis (Prime et al., 2012).

2.3.2 What patterns increase breastmilk production and breastfeeding duration?

2.3.2.1 Early initiation

BF behaviours immediately after birth are associated with BF duration. In an early study (Salariya et al., 1978), women were randomly assigned to one of four groups and directed to either feed their babies within 10 minutes after birth or 4-6 hours after birth, and then either two hourly after that or four hourly. Both earlier initiation and more frequent feeding increased breastfeeding duration, with the group who initiated early and fed more frequently feeding for the longest (Salariya et al., 1978). Another study also reported that BF initiation within 16 hours of the birth had a positive correlation with BF duration (Feinstein et al., 1986).

2.3.2.2 Breastfeeding frequency

In the middle of the 18th century, in some wealthy English speaking countries, scheduled BF (4-6 feeds per day) was common, but this did not widely spread or become practised throughout the world. Before this, demand feeding was the most common practice (Fildes, 1986; Manz et al., 1999). "Demand feeding" means BF a healthy, full-term infant on demands based on signs from the infant (Lang, 2002). It is assumed the infant will demand BF when they are hungry and thirsty (Price &

Bamford, 1984). However, demand feeding also needs the mother to be involved as an active participant interpreting the infants' signs (Manz et al., 1999). Manz et al. (1999) stated that during the 1960s and 1970s, a return to demand feeding was advocated (Manz et al., 1999).

Concerning specific BF practices, there are only a few studies that have observed BF frequency and feeding patterns in detail beyond the first week. A valuable study was conducted in Sweden by Hörnell and his colleagues (1999). This study examined the frequency of exclusive BF. The frequency of breastfeeds was described separately for daytime, night time and 24-h from 2-26 weeks postpartum. Specifically, during daytime, the range of BF frequency/day was from about 3-11 at two weeks and about 3-9 at 20 weeks; during night time feeds, the range was from about 1-5 at two weeks and about 0-4 at 20 weeks; during the 24 hour-period, the range was from around 4-15 at two weeks and about 4-11 at 20 weeks. The median number of breastfeeds was about eight times/day from 2 to 20 weeks, with about six breastfeeds during the daytime, and about two breastfeeds during night-time.

An Australian study found that infants aged between 1-6 months were exclusively breastfed 11±3 times/day (Kent et al., 2006). A U.K. study showed that exclusively-BF infants were fed 5-12 times/day with the median 8 times/day at 15 weeks; and median 7 times/day at 25 weeks, with the range 4-20 times/day (Nielsen et al., 2011). A U.S. study found The median number of breastfeeds per day was between 6-8 times/day during the first 26 weeks postpartum, subsequently down to 3.5 times/day at 48 weeks (Shealy et al., 2008). There is a range of advice to guide the mother on how to practice BF, but most is not directly based on scientific evidence. Fildes (1986) and Lang (2002) advise that if the baby is breastfed about every two hours during the day-time and one or two times at night, this may be enough to meet the infant's needs during the early months postpartum. Price and Bamford (1984) suggest that it is not good to feed the new baby more frequently than 3-4 hours between breastfeeds. Lang, (2002) state that numerous infants do finally establish a BF pattern of 6 to 8 feeds daily, with more feeds often needed towards the night, but BF frequency may vary greatly between individual infants. For working women, Price and Bamford (1984) suggest that at least four breastfeeds/day are required to maintain sufficient milk production. The NZ Ministry of Health (2012a) recommends that healthy breastfed neonates may need to breastfeed 3-8 times in the first 24 hours, and 5-10 times or more from day two to day six. Recent common advice concerning BF frequency is 8-12 times daily during the early period of lactation to establish and maintain breastmilk production (Gartner et al., 2005; Shealy et al., 2008; Kent et al., 2012).

Although early frequent feeding has been widely advocated, a recent survey of mothers in the U.K. found frequent BF was a top reason to cease BF — 71% of women reported cessation of BF by six weeks, and 55% of women reported by four months (Wright et al., 2006). In this study, mothers were asked to fill out a questionnaire about BF and their baby's health. Mothers who had stopped BF were asked to choose from six possible reasons they stopped (Wright et al., 2006). Closed questions on surveys can introduce bias by suggesting answers to the participants, so these results are biased, however the results indicate that some women are discouraged from BF if it is very time consuming for them. This may have implications for recommendations about BF frequency. For some mothers, very

frequent BF may not always be the best choice, and it may not be necessary for mothers who already have a good milk supply. If mothers are stressed, this will reduce their milk supply, so in this situation rest and support may be more important than very frequent BF (Moreno-Villares & Galiano-Segovia, 2013).

2.3.2.3 Breastfeeding sessions

There are limited studies which have looked at BF sessions in detail. Hörnell et al., (1999) reports on BF sessions in exclusively breastfed infants during different time frames. The median BF session was similar for daytime and night-time (at 2 weeks: 17 & 16 minutes; at 20 weeks: all 10 minutes). However, the median total length of BF sessions during the nighttime was shorter than that during daytime, due to more feeds during the daytime (at two weeks: 32 minutes vs. 1hours 32 minutes; at 20 weeks: 18 minutes vs. one hour).

Shealy et al. (2008) reports on BF sessions from the infants' birth to one year old. In this study most of the BF sessions reported by mothers were less than 20 minutes (about 45%-90% from 1-12 months), and least reported were more than 40 minutes (about 10%- 3% from 1-12 months). There was a significant increase in BF sessions less than 10 minutes from 1-12 months (from about 5%-40%). Another recent study conducted in U.K. involved exclusively breastfed infants also found for the majority infants the duration of their average BF session was less than 29 minutes at 15 and 25 weeks (90% and 89%, respectively) (Nielsen et al., 2011).

Suckling duration per feed has not been shown to be correlated with breastmilk production or infant intake, however unlimited suckling time, which may result in better drainage of the breast, may facilitate milk production (De Carvalho et al., 1982; De Carvalho et al., 1983; Kent et al., 2012; Prime et al., 2012). A recent study of mothers who were expressing breastmilk suggested that long expression duration (\geq 15 minutes, by electric breast pump) may be not necessary for most women who have enough milk production, although the period of time required for complete milk removal may vary by method of removing milk e.g. electric breast pump vs. milk removal by the infant (Prime et al., 2012).

However, short BF session is suggested as one of the reasons women stop BF (Hytten et al., 1958). For example, a study conducted in U.K. found infants who refused the breast or who BF only 1-4 minutes at a session resulted in the mother stopping BF because they thought they did not supply enough milk to their infant, or that the infant did not have the ability to suckle properly (Hytten et al., 1958). Shealy et al. (2008) states that common advice concerning suckling duration is 10-15 minutes at each side per feeding session.

2.3.2.4 Intervals between breastfeeds

Consistent findings show that the duration of the interval between feeds has a positive association with the age of the infant (Hörnell et al., 1999 & 2001; Shealy et al., 2008). For exclusively breastfed infants, the longest interval increased from around two hours at one month to around four hours at about seven months (Shealy et al., 2008). Concerning the association between BF intervals and milk production or BF duration, there is little evidence. However, normally it is considered that avoiding long intervals between feeds and giving regular BF may improve BF practices (Lang, 2002), in order to drain the breast and then provide positive feedback for milk synthesis (Prime et al., 2012).

2.3.3 What patterns decrease breastmilk production and breastfeeding duration?

2.3.3.1 Early introduction of formula

Supplementary formula is associated with a shorter BF duration (Hill et al., 1997; Riva et al., 1999; Dennis, 2002; Smith et al., 2002; Taveras et al., 2004; Pontin et al., 2007; Thulier & Mercer, 2009). A U.S. study showed women who were recommended formula supplementation by clinicians had a higher risk of cessation of exclusive BF by 12 weeks (Taveras et al., 2004). Another U.S. study observed that mothers' belief that infants enjoy formula feeding by mothers was significantly associated BF cessation at two weeks (Ertem et al., 2001). A Western Australian study found that feeding an infant breastmilk combined with formula feeding significantly predicted stopping any BF by nine weeks (Hauck et al., 2011).

Introducing formula during the first four weeks postpartum may have a worse effect on BF duration than later introduction of formula, because lactation is being established during this period. One study showed that adding formula within the first month shortened BF duration regardless of other fluid intake such as water or herbal teas (P<0.001) (Giugliani et al., 2008). An early U.S. study reported that the risk of BF cessation at four months increased three folds when formula was introduced more than once every day in the first month after the birth (Feinstein et al., 1986). A NZ study also found similar results (Vogel et al., 1999). It stated that if formula was introduced within the first month, it increased by 3.1 times the risk of BF cessation by 12 months (Vogel et al., 1999). A recent U.S. study not only emphasised that introducing formula feedings at day four postpartum increased the risk of ceasing BF, but also emphasised that it was related to a high incidence of sick visits to health care clinics in the first month (Bunik et al., 2010).

2.3.3.2 Early introduction of other solids and liquids

Early introduction of CF may be correlated with early cessation of BF (Hytten et al., 1958; Ekstrom et al., 2003; Giugliani et al., 2008; Wijndaele et al., 2009), lower frequency of BF (Hornell et al., 2001; Lande et al., 2003), and shorter BF session (Hornell et al., 2001). It is also reported that early introduction of CF was associated with BF difficulties that are risk factors related to early cessation (Wright et al., 2006).

According to reports of the Ministry of Health, NZ mothers prefer to introduce CF from about the age of four months, although they knew six months was recommended rather than four months (Ministry of Health, 2008 & 2012b). Hence, it is apparent that the NZ infant may be fed inappropriately, due to introduction of supplemental foods before four months (Heath et al., 2002). This situation is also common in most of European countries (Caroli et al., 2012). A study conducted in the U.K. showed that the majority of infants were introduced to CF and formula before four months. The rate of exclusive BF decreased greatly from 54.8% at the first month to 9.6% at the fourth months, owing to introducing CF to the infants (Pontin et al., 2007). The United States had a similar situation to the U.K. A large U.S. cohort study in 2008 reported that more than 50% infants were fed CF before four months. Those infants were more likely to stop BF at six months, compared to the infants who were not fed CF at four months (70% vs. 34% stop BF at six months)
(Grummer-Strawn et al., 2008). A similar finding was reported by a Norwegian study (Lande et al., 2003).

2.4 Summary

Breastmilk is the ideal food for the infant. It can provide all required nutrients during the first six months postpartum as well as bioactive components, and thus benefit infants' growth, development and health. Exclusive BF is recommended to around six months, and then introducing CF and continuing BF until 12 months or beyond is recommended by NZ Ministry of Health (2011). A large part of NZ infants do not meet these recommendations. The prevalence of exclusive/full BF till six months and BF till 12 months are low and have not reached the target that the Ministry of Health set in 2002. Hence, promoting exclusive/full and BF duration in NZ is necessary. According to documented studies, BF duration is influenced by many factors, but perceived insufficient milk supply is a major barrier to BF continuation. Therefore, promoting milk production may be important to prolong BF duration.

With regard to BF practices, based on the literature, it seems that to increase BF duration the infant may need to be fed as soon as possible after the delivery. The first month is a key period of establishing lactation, during which time feeding practices are important, especially, where there are concerns about inadequate milk supply. The following factors may be important to promote milk production and achieve six months of exclusive BF duration and BF until one year: frequent BF, avoiding long intervals between BF, not introducing formula and supplemental foods during the first several weeks.

2.5 Aims

The aim of this study is to describe BF patterns (frequency, longest interval and length of BF session), and to observe the association between BF duration and BF patterns. Little work has been carried out on BF practices in detail within NZ.

Objectives:

- To describe BF patterns during the first 12 months including frequency, longest interval between BF and the length of BF session;
- To observe the association between BF duration and frequency of BF in the first month;
- To observe the association of maternal and infant characteristics with full BF/any BF duration;

Chapter Three Methodology

3.1 Subjects recruitment

This thesis is a secondary data analysis of data collected as part of the Manawatu Mother and Baby study. Pregnant women were recruited into this study in the last stage of gestation (\geq 35 weeks), no younger than 16 years old, and having a healthy pregnancy and healthy infant. Full-term infants were defined as having at least 37 weeks of gestation, and normal-birth weight infants were defined as birth weight \geq 2500g birth weight (Ministry of Health, 2012c). Participants were recruited by advertisements in the Manawatu, NZ, by newsletters, webpage, and in locations such as GP surgeries, midwifery premises and Plunket rooms.

Sixty one participants were recruited. The majority of them were from Palmerston North. Ethical approval was obtained from the Massey University Human Ethnics Committee: Southern A: 06/70, Palmerston North, NZ.

3.2 Data collection

Women were interviewed about BF practices at approximately 2 weeks after birth and then at 2 weekly intervals during the first three months, and then once per month in the remaining 9 months until the infants first birthday. Most interviews were conducted through telephone by a trained interviewer, but 59% of participants came to the Human Nutrition Lab in Massey University, Palmerston North at the time of recruitment for body composition measurements, and some interviews were conducted in person at that time.

3.2.1 24-hour recall

A questionnaire was used to collect information about the mothers' demographics and obstetric characteristics (See Appendix A). This was usually completed in the final trimester of pregnancy. Information about the infants' birth status, BF problems and advices were obtained at two weeks postpartum using a questionnaire; and detailed description of infant feeding and sleeping was collected by the interviewer using a 24-hour recall template (See Appendix B). All the infant's activities of the previous 24 hours were recorded by the interviewer using the codes as shown in the coding table (see Appendix B). This included the activity (e.g. sleep, breastfeeding, cry, ect.), the time the activity begins, and, for food and drink, the amount consumed and the adult involved. The duration of an activity is taken as the time from the beginning of the activity until the next activity begins, unless two activities are explicitly stated to occur at the same time.

Recall data is widely used in anthropological studies to observe thoughts and activities (Bernard, 2011). In regards to examining infant feeding practices, the 24-hour recall is commonly chosen by researchers; mothers are asked how the infant was fed in previous 24 hours (Ziegler et al., 2006; Hector, 2011). The 24-hour recall has some advantages including minimizing respondent burden (Bernard, 2011), and many important indicators for BF practice and policy can be targeted by a few questions (Hector, 2011).

However, there are some limitations with this method. First of all, the 24-hour dietary recall is a retrospective method, it may have recall bias (Agampodi et al., 2011), which may be influenced by some maternal factors such as age, mood, intelligence and attention (Krall et al., 1998). Accuracy of 24-hour recall can be enhanced when designed appropriately and structured questions are used (Agampodi et al., 2011). For example, Aarts et al. (2000) found that if mothers reported they fed their infants only by breastmilk during the previous 24 hours, they should be asked detailed questions, such as have ever introduced any other fluids or solids since the infant's delivery. If the answer was yes then need to ask further, such as how frequently the infant was fed those foods. Lastly, over reporting BF practices may arise from a bias of social desirability — women prefer to give a socially acceptable response, owing to awareness of BF recommendations (Li et al., 2005; Agampodi et al., 2011).

The 24-hour recall may overestimate the prevalence of exclusive BF, since a single 24-hour recall (without additional questions) does not show feeding practices during previous days, during which time the infants may be fed other foods in addition to breastmilk (Aarts et al., 2000; Binns et al., 2009; Agampodi et al., 2011; Hector, 2011). Hence, when using the 24-h recall method it may be better to refer to full BF instead of exclusive BF (Binns et al., 2009).

Based on above shortcomings, the instrument used for this study was more detailed than the usual 24-hour dietary recall. In this study, the mothers were asked to recall both was infant feeding and activity practices (recalling the last 24 hours feeding, sleeping and wakefulness). However, a disadvantage of this recall method is in later data analysis and interpretation, when it may not be straightforward to obtain the data as for specifically targeted questions. Finally, some related questions about BF (maternal attitude, knowledge and intention towards BF) were asked at the same time as the 24-hour dietary recall to check the reliability of the data.

3.3 Handling of data

The questionnaires including the 24-hour recall were coded and entered into a data set for SPSS version 20.0.

3.3.1 Data cleaning & coding

- Firstly the data set was cleaned to make sure that values were correct and forms of values are appropriate to be used in analysis.
- The end of the 24 hours for each case was indicated with a data point coded as "99" which did not represent any activity. The reason is that this study was designed to look at infants' feeding behaviours in 24 hours via 24-hours recall, but collected data was not always recorded to finish at exactly 24 hours (exceed/ less 24 hours).
- The 24-hour recall was not always conducted on the exact anniversary of the infants birth, e.g. 2 weeks, 4 weeks. So the age at the interviews were coded corresponding with the age closest to the following age: 2 weeks, 4 weeks, 6 weeks, 8 weeks, 10 weeks, 12 weeks, 16 weeks, 20 weeks, 24 weeks, 28 weeks, 32 weeks, 36 weeks, 40 weeks, 44 weeks, 48 weeks.

- BF in some cases was reported to happen at the same time as other activities (such as fed the baby with CF, asleep, or fully awake and unsettled).
 Estimating actual length of BF session for these breastfeeds was based on the following rules after consultation with women experienced in breastfeeding.
- When BF was reported at the same time as feeding the baby with expressed breastmilk, or CF, or when the infant was asleep, or with fully awake and unsettled/ content, the actual length of BF sessions was estimated at 50% of original reported time by mothers;
- When BF was reported at the same time as co-sleeping, the actual length of BF sessions was estimated at 20% of original reported time by mothers;
- When BF was reported at the same time as comfort suckling, the actual length of BF sessions was estimated at 80% of original reported time by mothers.

3.3.2 Selecting participants for case study

The selected participants for case study were required to meet two criteria — one was that participants breastfed babies up to 48 weeks, and the other was that the number of breastfeeds/day during the first four weeks postpartum was outside the commonly advised range of 8-12 times/day as stated by Gartner et al. (2005), Shealy et al. (2008), and Kent et al. (2012). Among the participants who met these two criteria, two participants who reported less than eight breastfeeds/day at week 2 or 4 after the birth were randomly selected, and also randomly selected were another two participants who reported more than 12 breastfeeds/day at these times.

3.4 Data analysis

At each interview, infant feeding is categorised based on what the infant was fed on duration the previous 24 hours based on the following BF definitions of NZ Ministry of Health (2002));

- Full breastfeeding the infant was only fed by breastmilk including expressed milk or small amount of water/medicine, and no other liquids and foods in the past 24 hours;
- Mixed feeding the infant was fed breastmilk (could be expressed milk) and formula, and no other liquids and/or foods in the past 24 hours;
- Mixed feeding with complementary foods the infant was fed breastmilk (could be expressed milk) and formula, and also received other liquids and/or foods in the past 24 hours;
- Breastfeeding with complementary foods the infant was fed by breastmilk (could be expressed milk) and received other liquids and/or foods, but no formula in the past 24 hours;
- 5) Not breastfeeding the infant was not given breastmilk including expressed milk, but given other alternative foods — formula and/or solids, and/or other liquids in the past 24 hours.

In addition, use of expressed breastmilk was noted — expressed breastmilk is counted as BF for frequency and interval analysis, but not for BF sessions.

Variables were calculated as follows:

1) Breastfeeding frequency was defined as the number of BF/24 hours

(including feeds of expressed milk).

- 2) The length of BF session was defined as from the beginning of a BF to the beginning of the following activity. The last BF in the 24 hours recall was not included in the analysis of length of BF session if the BF ended after the end of the 24 hours period.
- 3) The interval between BF is defined from the beginning of a BF to the beginning of the following BF (Marasco& Barger, n.d.). The interval after the last BF of the 24 hour recall is calculated from the beginning of the last BF to the beginning of the first BF in the 24-hour recall; this is an assumption that feeding practices were the same in the next 24 hours.
- The longest interval between BF was the longest interval between two breastfeeds in 24 hours.
 - Statistical Analyses

Results were described and analysed using SPSS version 20.0 (Statistics Package for the Social Sciences). A p-value ≤ 0.05 was considered to be significant. Normality of the data was tested using Shapiro-Wilk test and visual inspection of Q-Q plots. The data was not normally distributed after an attempt of a transformation. Therefore, the data was subjected to non-parametric tests.

Quartiles were calculated based on the method described in IBM (2013), and boxplots were created by using Tukey Hinges (IBM, 2011). The difference between groups was tested by Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis. If a significant difference was detected, further post hoc test was carried out (IBM, 2012). The correlation between BF duration and BF frequency was tested by the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, and visual inspection of scatter plots.

Chapter Four Result

4.1 Participants

A total of 61 participants took part in this study. The response rate for the interviews is shown in Table 4.1. Eighty-nine percent of the women completed the 12 months of the study.

Weeks	Ν	%
	(Total n=61)	
2	59	97
4	61	100
6	58	95
8	59	97
10	59	97
12	60	98
16	59	97
20	59	97
24	59	97
28	58	95
32	58	95
36	54	89
40	57	93
44	55	90
48	54	89

Table 4.1. The number and percentage of respondents at each observed time point (approximate age of infants) during the first year postpartum

4.1.1 Maternal demographic characteristics

The mean age of participants was 32.1 ± 0.6 years. The most common age of the women (47% women) was 30-34 years. Thirty-two percent of the women were aged

more than 35 years, 12% were aged 21-24 years, and 10% were aged 25-29 years. The mean height was 1.7 ± 0.5 meters. Thirty six women (about 59% of the total) were assessed for their body composition. The mean weight was 85.4 ± 13.6 kg (about 2 weeks before the delivery) (Table 4.2).

The majority of participants (n=52) were NZ European. The remainder were NZ Maori (n=4) and European & Maori and others (n=4). Among participants, 45% of the women had at least a bachelor's degree. Concerning the living arrangement, 90% women lived with their partner, and 67% were living with their children (the rest were first time mothers) (Table 4.2).

4.1.2 Maternal obstetric factors and past feeding experience

Fewer women (33%) were primiparous while the majority were multiparous and 23% had at two or more children. Among multiparous women, 56% women breastfed their previous infant for more than 6 months, and 32% breastfed for more than 12 months. The remaining women had BF either less than 1 month (19%) or between 1-6 months (24%) (Table 4.2).

Regarding gestational period (about 59% mothers reported), most women (78%, n=28) had at least 37 weeks gestation. About 22% women (n=8) had less than 37 weeks. However, all infants were healthy and had no congenital malformations which could affect sucking ability. The majority of women had a vaginal delivery (72%), and the remaining (28%) had a caesarean delivery (Table 4.2).

4.1.3 Infant characteristics

The percentage of male infants was slightly higher (56%) than that of female infants (44%). Ninety-eight percent of the infants had a normal birth weight (\geq 2500g) and only 2% (n=1) had a birth weight less than 2500g (Table 4.2).

	Ν	%	Mean	(Std.Deviation)
	(Total n=61)			
Age (total)	60		32.1	0.6
21-24	7	12	22.6	1.1
25-29	6	10	27.7	1.6
30-34	28	47	31.9	1.4
>=35	19	32	37.2	2.2
Height (m)(total)	36	59	1.7	0.1
Weight (kg) (total)	36	59	85.4	13.6
Gestational Duration (total)	36		37.4	1.2
<37 preterm baby	8	22	35.8	0.9
\geq 37 full term baby	28	78	37.9	0.8
Parity (total)	60		1.0	0.8
0	19	32		
1	27	45		
≥ 2	14	23	2.2	0.4
No Breastfeeding Experience	19			
Past Breastfeeding Experience (total)	37			
breastfed < 1 mo (longest duration)	7	19		
breasttfed 1-6 months (longest duration)	9	24		
breastfed 6-12 months (longest duration)	9	24		
breastfed 12 months or more (longest duration)	12	32		
Mode of Delivery (total)	61			
Natural	44	72		

Table 4.2. Demographic and obstetric characteristics of participants and infants

	N	%	Mean	(Std.Deviation)
	(Total n=61)			
Cesarean	17	28		
Number Children Living With (total)	60			
0	20	33		
1	27	45		
2	9	15		
3	4	7		
Living with Partner (total)	60			
No	6	10		
Yes	54	90		
Education (total)	60			
<bachelor< td=""><td>33</td><td>55</td><td></td><td></td></bachelor<>	33	55		
≥bachelor	27	45		
Ethnicity (total)	60			
NZ European	52	87		
NZ Maori	4	7		
NZ European/ Pakeha & NZ Maori & others	4	7		
Gender of Baby (total)	61			
Female	27	44		
Male	34	56		
Birth Weight of Baby (g) (total)	61		3664.5	469.7
<2500g low birth weight	1	2	2360.0	
≥2500g normal weight	60	98	3686.3	441.6

4.2 Infant feeding patterns

4.2.1 Breastfeeding practice

4.2.1.1 Infant feeding during the first 12 months

At first four weeks 81% and 82% infants were fully breastfed. At 16 weeks the infants were predominantly fully BF (61%). Subsequently, more and more infants were breastfed and give CF or formula, or no longer received breastmilk (Figure 4.1). At two weeks, 12% infants were BF and supplemented with formula, and this varied only slightly (between 8%-14%) up to 16 weeks. Ten percent of the infants were no longer BF at four weeks after the birth (7% at 2 weeks) (Figure 4.1& Table 4.3).

After 16 weeks, most of the breastfed infants were introduced to complementary foods (CF). Between 16-20 weeks, there was a great decline of the percentage of fully BF infants (from 61% to 37%), and mixed–fed infants (10% to 3%), while the percentage of infants who were fed CF along with BF or mixed feeding increased (BF with CF from 7% to 27%; mixed feeding with CF from 8% to 12%). During this period, the proportion of infants who were not BF was increased only slightly from 17% to 20%. At 24 weeks, only 7% infants were fully breastfed, 24% were not receiving any breastmilk, 14% were mixed fed with CF, while breastfed infants with CF became the predominant feeding method (56%) (Table 4.3 & Figure 4.1).

During the following 20 weeks until 44 weeks, the percentage of infants who were BF supplement with CF, increased from 27% to 49%. There was an increased percentage of infants who stopped BF (from 28% to 38%), while the percentage of mixed-fed infants with CF remained nearly stable (between 9%-13%). At 48 weeks,

52% infants were still breastfed; 41% BF and receiving CF and 11% mixed feeding and receiving CF (Table 4.3 & Figure 4.1).





Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods.

Table 4.3. The number and percentage of breastfeeding among different feeding practices at different ages

Infant feeding meth	poa					App	proxim	ate ag	e of th	e infar	ut, wee	ks				
		7	4	9	8	10	12	16	20	24	28	32	36	40	44	48
	Ν	48	50	45	44	44	43	36	22	4	ŝ		0	0	0	0
Full BF	%	81	82	78	75	75	72	61	37	2	S	0	0	0	0	0
Mixed feeding	N.	7	S	9	∞	×	7	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	%	12	~	10	14	14	12	10	ω	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mixed feeding with CF	N.	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	7	8	7	7	S	S	7	9
0	%	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	12	14	12	12	6	6	13	11
BF with CF	N.	0	0		0	0		4	16	33	32	33	32	29	27	22
	%	0	0	7	0	0	7	7	27	56	55	57	59	51	49	41
Not BF	N.	4	9	9	7	7	10	12	12	14	16	17	17	23	21	26
	%	7	10	10	12	12	17	20	20	24	28	29	32	40	38	48
Total	N. (100%)	59	61	58	59	59	60	59	59	59	58	58	54	57	55	54
	-		-									-]

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary food

41

4.2.2 Breastfeeding frequency

4.2.2.1 Breastfeeding frequency per day during the first 12 months

As shown in Figure 4.2, over the first 12 months BF frequency was generally lower for mixed-fed infants with or without CF than for fully-breastfed infants or breastfed with CF. At two weeks, BF frequency for fully BF infants ranged from 5-21times/day with median nine times/day (interquartile range (IQR): 8-10 times/day). This was significantly different from mixed feeding infants who had fewer breastfeeds: from 1-15 times/day with median six times/day (IQR: 3-8 times/day). Between 4-12 weeks, the median BF frequency for fully breastfed infants was nearly stable between 9-10 times/day (IQR: 6.8-12 times/day), which was significantly higher than for infants who were being fed both breastmilk and formula (mixed feeding) who had median BF frequency between 5-6 times/day (IQR: 1-8.5 times/day) (Figure 4.2 & Table 4.4).

By 16 weeks, four infants had been introduced to CF to supplement BF; their median BF frequency was nine times/day (IQR: 9-12 times/day) (Figure 4.2). At 16 weeks, fully breastfed infants had a statistically significant higher BF frequency per day (median 9.5 times/day; IQR: 7-11 times/day), compared to mixed feeding infants (median 6.5 times/day; IQR: 4.5-7.3 times/day). At 20 weeks, there was a dramatic increase in the number of breastfed infants who were given CF (from four infants at 16 weeks to 16 infants at 20 weeks). Their BF frequency was not significantly different (median 7 times/day, IQR: 6-9.8 times/day) for infants fully BF or for mixed fed infants with CF (Figure 4.2 & Table 4.4).

At 24 weeks, all mixed-fed infants received CF. There were four fully BF infants and the 33 other breastfed infants also received CF. The median BF frequency for fully breastfed infants was 7.5 times/day (IQR: 6.3-11.8 times/day), which was similar to the number of feeds received by breastfed infants also receiving CF (median 7 times/day; IQR: 6-10.5 times/day) (Figure 4.2), while for mixed feeding infants receiving CF, there was a significant lower number of breastfeeds per day (median 3.5 times/day; IQR: 1.5-5.8 times/day) (Table 4.4). Through the following weeks till 48 weeks, for BF infants with CF, the median BF frequency varied between 4.5-7 times/day; and for mixed feeding infants receiving CF, median BF frequency varied between 2-6 times/day. Additionally, during this period at 50% of time points, there was a statistically significant lower BF frequency among infants who were mixed feeding and also receiving CF than among BF infants receiving CF (Table 4.4 & Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2. Breastfeeding frequency per 24 hours among different feeding practices during the first 12 months of infants age (Median, 25th and 75th percentiles and range) (excluding groups with less than 5 participants)

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods; Breastfeeding frequency includes feeding at the breast and feedings of expressed milk.

		Na	BF Frequency (NO.) Percentiles			
Weeks	Feeding Patterns	(women)	25	50 (Median)	75	
	Full BF ^a	48	8.0	9.0	10.0	
2*	Mixed feeding ^b	7	3.0	6.0	8.0	
	Total	55	76	10.0	12.0	
4*	Mixed feeding ^b	50	7.0 4.0	10.0 5.0	12.0	
	Total	55	1.0	5.0	0.5	
	Full BF ^a	45	7.0	9.0	12.0	
6*	Mixed feeding ^b	6	2.5	5.0	7.5	
Ũ	BF with CF×	1	9.0	9.0	9.0	
	Full BF ^a	51 74	7.0	9.5	11.8	
8*	Mixed feeding ^b	8	2.3	6.0	8.5	
_	Total	52				
	Full BF ^a	44	7.0	9.0	10.8	
10*	Mixed feeding ⁰	8	2.3	4.5	8.0	
	I Otal Full BF ^a	52 43	7.0	10.0	10.0	
12*	Mixed feeding ^b	+3 7	1.0	5.0	6.0	
	Total	50				
	Full BF ^a	36	7.0	9.5	11.0	
	Mixed feeding ^b	6	4.5	6.5	7.3	
16*	Mixed feeding with	1	8.0	8.0	8.0	
	BF with CF×	4	9.0	9.0	12.0	
	Total	47	2.0	2.0	12:0	
	Full BF ^a	22	6.8	8.5	11.0	
	Mixed feeding×	2	5.0	6.0		
20#	Mixed feeding with	7	1.0	6.0	6.0	
	BF with CF ^{ab}	16	6.0	7.0	9.8	
	Total	47				
	Full BF×	4	6.3	7.5	11.8	
24*	Mixed feeding with	8	1.5	3.5	5.8	
24*	CF ⁻ BE with CE ^b	33	60	7.0	10.5	
	Total	45	0.0	7.0	10.5	
	Full BF×	3	6.0	10.0		
	Mixed feeding with	7	4.0	5.0	6.0	
28*	CF^{a}	22		7.0	0.0	
	Total	52 42	0.0	7.0	9.0	

Table 4.4. Breastfeeding frequency per 24 hours among different feeding types

 during the first 12 months

		NT	BF Frequency (NO.) Percentiles			
Weeks	Feeding Patterns	INO. (women)	25	50 (Median)	75	
	Full BF×	1	22.0	22.0	22.0	
32*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	7	5.0	6.0	8.0	
	BF with CF ^a Total	33 40	5.0	7.0	8.5	
2.64	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	5	1.5	2.0	4.0	
36*	BF with CF ^b Total	32 37	4.0	6.0	8.0	
40*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	5	3.5	5.0	7.0	
40*	BF with CF ^a Total	29 34	4.0	6.0	7.0	
4 4 4	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	7	1.0	2.0	3.0	
44*	BF with CF ^b Total	27 34	4.0	6.0	8.0	
40*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	6	1.8	3.0	5.0	
48*	BF with CF ^a Total	22 28	3.0	4.5	8.3	

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods

*Mann-Whitney Test; *Kruskal Wallis Test;

a-b feeding patterns in a column followed by different superscripts are significantly different in mean rank at the significant level of P < 0.05.

 \times feeding patterns in a column not include in analysis (less than 5 participants);

Breastfeeding frequency includes feeding at the breast and feedings of expressed milk.

4.2.3 Longest interval between breastfeeds

4.2.3.1 Longest interval between breastfeeds per day during the first 12 months

Throughout the first 12 months, the range of the longest interval between breastfeeds remained wide (especially for mixed feeding infants) from approximately three hours to 24 hours (24 hours owing to one breastfeed/day) (Figure 4.3). At two weeks, the longest interval between BF for fully BF infants ranged between 3-10 hours with median 4.9 hours (IQR: 4.3-5.5 hours). The median for infants who were mixed feeding was 6.5 hours, and there was even greater variation in this group between 4-24 hours (IQR: 4.1-20 hours). Between 4-12 weeks, the longest interval for fully BF infants (median between 5.0-7.9 hours) was generally significantly shorter than for mixed-fed infants (median between 8.3-14.3 hours) (Figure 4.3 & Table 4.5).

At 16 weeks, the length of the longest interval between BF was a statistically significant different between fully breastfed infants (median 6.8 hours; IQR: 5.1-8.9 hours) and mixed-fed infants (median 11.2 hours; IQR: 6.6-14.4 hours) (Figure 4.3 & Table 4.5). Over the remaining 32 weeks, the longest interval increased so that by 48 weeks the median was 10.9 hours for mixed-fed infants received CF (IQR: 9.6-15.5 hours), and was 10.8 hours for BF infants receiving CF (IQR: 6.4-12.5 hours). The range still remained wide throughout the second half of the first year (Figure 4.3).

Over the 48 weeks, generally the longest interval between BF was longer for infants who were BF and supplemented with formula compared to fully BF infants. There was also more variation in the length of the longest interval between BF for infants receiving breastmilk and formula as compared to fully BF (Figure 4.3 & Table 4.5).





Table 4.5. The longest interval between breastfeeds (hours) among different feedingtypes during the first 12 months

			Longest	Interval BF (hours)	oetween
Weeks	Feeding Patterns	No.	I	Percentile	8
		(women)	25	50 (Median)	75
2*	Full BF ^a Mixed feeding ^a Total	48 7 55	4.3 4.1	4.9 6.5	5.5 20.0
4*	Full BF ^a Mixed feeding ^b Total	50 5 55	4.3 7.6	5.0 8.5	6.0 14.8
6*	Full BF ^a Mixed feeding ^b BF with CF× Total	45 6 1 52	5.0 8.7 6.0	5.7 14.3 6.0	7.0 17.3 6.0
8*	Full BF ^a Mixed feeding ^b Total	44 8 52	5.0 6.8	6.1 8.3	8.3 17.8
10*	Full BF ^a Mixed feeding ^b Total	44 8 52	5.7 6.9	7.0 9.9	9.0 19.0
12*	Full BF ^a Mixed feeding ^a Total	43 7 50	6.3 6.6	7.9 9.3	9.3 19 .0
16*	Full BF ^a Mixed feeding ^b Mixed feeding with	36 6	5.1 6.6	6.8 11.2 6.0	8.9 14.4 6.0
	CF× BF with CF× Total	4 47	4.9	8.4	9.2
	Full BF ^a Mixed feeding×	22 2	5.1 13.1	6.8 13.4	11.1
20#	Mixed feeding with CF ^b	7	10.6	12.3	19.0
	BF with CF ^{ab} Total	16 47	7.0	9.4	11.1
	Full BF× Mixed feeding with	4	5.3	7.9	11.4
24*	CF ^a	8	7.0	15.5	23.5
	BF with CF ^o Total	33 45	5.2	7.8	10.3

			Longest Interval between BF (hours)			
Weeks	Feeding Patterns	No.	I	Percentile	s	
		(women)	25	50 (Median)	75	
	Full BF×	3	3.1	5.5		
28*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	7	11.3	12.3	15.0	
	BF with CF ^a Total	32 42	5.8	8.0	10.7	
	Full BF×	1	3.7	3.7	3.7	
32*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	7	5.8	7.3	8.6	
	BF with CF ^a Total	33 41	6.2	8.6	11.3	
2.41	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	5	14.8	23.5	23.8	
36*	BF with CF ^b Total	32 37	6.6	8.8	11.8	
40*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	5	7.5	10.0	13.4	
40*	BF with CF ^a Total	29 34	6.0	9.7	12.1	
4.4.5	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	7	12.8	22.6	24.0	
44*	BF with CF ^b Total	27 34	5.9	9.8	10.5	
10*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	6	9.6	10.9	15.5	
48*	BF with CF ^a Total	22 28	6.4	10.8	12.5	

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods;

*Mann-Whitney Test; [#]Kruskal Wallis Test;

a-c median values in a column followed by different superscripts are significantly different in mean rank at the significant level of P < 0.05.

× feeding patterns in a column not include in analysis (less than 5 participants)

Breastfeeding includes feeding at the breast and feedings of expressed milk.

4.2.4 Length of breastfeeding sessions

4.2.4.1 Length of breastfeeding sessions during the first 12 months

During the first 12 months, the length of individual BF sessions varied widely (Figure 4.4 & Figure 4.5). At two weeks, for fully BF infants, the length of BF session was 12-30 minutes/feed (IQR) with median 20 minutes/feed (the range: 2-205 minutes/feed). There was also wide variation for infants who were mixed feeding — IQR: 20-30 minutes/feed with median 20 minutes/feed (the range: 7.5-60 minutes/feed) (Figure 4.4, Figure 4.5 & Table 4.6). From 4-12 weeks, there was generally no significant difference of the length of BF sessions between fully BF infants (median from 19-15 minutes/feed; most feeds ranged between 1-60 minutes/feeds) and mixed-fed infants (median 20 minutes/feed; most feeds ranged between 2-45 minutes/feeds) (Figure 4.4 & Table 4.6).

At 16 weeks, the length of BF sessions was not statistically significant different between fully breastfed infants (median: 10 minutes/feed; IQR: 6-20 minutes/feed; the range: 1-180 minutes/feed) and those receiving formula as well as breastmilk (median: 10 minutes/feed; IQR: 10-20 minutes/feed; the range: 5-50 minutes/feed). From 20 to 48 weeks, the length of most BF sessions (regarding of BF types) was shorter, compared to most BF sessions during previous weeks. The median remained at about ten minutes/feed, but the range was still wide, most feeds were between 1-40 minutes the rage of BF sessions remained wide, and most feeds were between 1-40 minutes and median remained (Figure 4.4, Figure 4.5 & Table 4.6).





Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods; Length of breastfeeding session was the time spent at the breast and not include expressed milk.



Figure 4.5. The length of breastfeeding session among different feeding types during 12 months including all observations (excluding the group less than 5 participants)

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods; One BF session at 40 weeks of 690 minutes (owing to co-sleeping) was omitted.

Table 4.6. Length of breastfeeding session (minutes) among different feeding types

 during the first 12 months

		No	Length of BF sessions (mins)			
Weeks	Feeding patterns	No. Breastfeeds]	Percentiles		
		(No. women)	25	50 (median)	75	
	Full BF ^a	444 (48)	12.00	20.00	30.00	
2*	Mixed feeding ^a Total	33 (6) 477 (54)	20.00	20.00	30.00	
	Full BF	487 (50)	10.00	19.00	30.00	
4	Mixed feeding×	21 (4)	10.00	20.00	37.50	
	Total	509 (54)				
	Full BF ^a	434 (45)	10.00	15.00	30.00	
6*	Mixed feeding ^a	28 (5)	15.00	20.00	21.75	
	BF with CF×	9(1)	30.00	45.00	60.00	
	Total	471 (51)	10.00	15.00	20.00	
Orth	Full BF"	425 (44)	10.00	15.00	30.00	
8*	Mixed feeding	36 (6)	11.25	20.00	30.00	
		461 (50)	10.00	15.00	20.00	
104	Full BF	398 (44)	10.00	15.00	30.00	
10*	Mixed feeding	37 (6)	10.00	20.00	30.00	
	1 otal	435 (50)	10.00	15.00	20.00	
10*		386 (43)	10.00	15.00	20.00	
124	Mixed feeding	28(5)	11.25	20.00	30.00	
	Γ	414(46)	6.00	10.00	20.00	
	Mixed feeding ^a	343(30)	10.00	10.00	20.00	
	Mixed feeding with	52 (5)	10.00	10.00	20.00	
16*	CF×	8 (1)	17.50	17.50	23.75	
	BF with CF×	40 (4)	10.00	15.00	20.00	
	Total	423 (46)				
	Full BF ^a	201 (22)	7.00	11.00	20.00	
	Mixed feeding×	12 (2)	15.00	15.00	20.00	
20#	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	27 (6)	10.00	10.00	18.00	
	BF with CF ^a	121 (16)	5.00	10.00	15.00	
	Total	361 (46)				
	Full BF×	34 (4)	5.00	10.00	15.00	
24*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	30 (8)	10.00	15.00	15.25	
	BF with CF ^b Total	261 (33) 325 (45)	5.00	10.00	15.00	

		N	Length of BF sessions (mins)			
Weeks	Feeding patterns	No. Breastfeeds]	Percentiles		
		(No. women)	25	50 (median)	75	
	Full BF×	33 (3)	5.00	10.00	25.00	
28*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	36 (7)	10.00	10.00	15.00	
	BF with CF ^a	231 (32)	5.00	10.00	15.00	
	Total	300 (42)				
	Full BF×	22 (1)	5.00	10.00	10.00	
32*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	42 (7)	10.00	10.00	13.00	
	BF with CF ^a	223 (33)	5.00	10.00	20.00	
	Total	287 (41)				
26*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	13 (5)	12.50	20.00	20.00	
30*	BF with CF ^b	200 (32)	5.00	10.00	15.00	
	Total	213 (37)				
40*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	25 (5)	5.00	10.00	15.00	
40*	BF with CF ^a	191 (29)	5.00	10.00	20.00	
	Total	216 (34)				
4.4.5	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	15 (6)	5.00	10.00	15.00	
44*	BF with CF ^a	170 (27)	5.00	10.00	20.00	
	Total	185 (33)				
40*	Mixed feeding with CF ^a	19 (6)	5.00	10.00	20.00	
4ð*	BF with CF ^a	138 (22)	5.00	10.00	15.00	
	Total	157 (28)				

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods

*Mann-Whitney Test; [#]Kruskal Wallis Test;

a-b feeding patterns in a column followed by different superscripts are significantly different in mean rank at the significant level of P < 0.05.

× feeding patterns in a column not include in analysis (less than 5 participants);

Note: length of breastfeeding session was the time spent at the breast and not include expressed milk.

4.2.4.2 Distributions of the length of breastfeeding sessions at 2, 4, 24 and 48 weeks

As shown in Figures4.6-4.9, the length of BF sessions reduced over time. Specifically, for fully BF infants at two weeks about 80% of BF sessions were less than 40 minutes, with 24% less than ten minutes and about 20% between 11-19 minutes, 20-29 minutes and 30-39 minutes. About 10% of BF sessions were more than one hour (Figure 4.6). At four weeks slightly more than 30% BF sessions lasted \leq 10 minutes. About 55% BF sessions were less than 40 minutes, while there were still about 10% BF sessions more than one hour (Figure 4.7). At 24 weeks, more than half of the BF sessions for fully BF infants (n=4) were ten minutes or less (Figure 4.8).

For mixed-fed infants, at two weeks about 55% breastfeeds lasted 20-29 minutes, with approximately 10% lasting 10-20 min, 15% lasting 30-39 min, and a further 10% >1 hour (Figure 4.6). At four weeks, 38% BF sessions were \leq 10 minutes. Most of the remaining BF sessions for mixed-fed infants were between 20-29 minutes or between 40-49 minutes at four weeks. While there were still about 8% BF sessions longer than one hour at four weeks (Figure 4.7).

By 24 weeks the majority of infants were receiving CF. For mixed feeding infants receiving CF at 24 weeks, more than 80% of BF sessions were less than 20 minutes (Figure 4.8). At 48 weeks, most breastfeeds (approximate 60%) were ≤ 10 minutes (Figure 4.9).

For BF infants received CF, about three quarters were 10 minutes or less at 24 and 48 weeks (Figure 4.8 & Figure 4.9). However, there was still a small percentage of breastfeeds (3%) which lasted more than 1 hour at 48 weeks (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.6. Length of breastfeeding session at two weeks of infants' age

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods;

Full BF: No.= 48 women (444 breast sessions); Mixed feeding: No.= 6 women (33 breast sessions).





Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods;

Full BF: No.= 50 women (487 breastfeeding sessions); Mixed feeding: No.= 4 women (21 breast sessions).


Figure 4.8. Length of breastfeeding session at 24 weeks of infants' age

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods;

Full BF: No.= 4 women (34 breast sessions); Mixed feeding with CF: No.= 8 women (30 breast sessions); BF with CF: No.= 33 women (261 breast sessions).



Figure 4.9. Length of breastfeeding session per day at 48 weeks of infants' age

Note: BF: breastfeeding; CF: complementary foods;

Mixed feeding with CF: No.= 6 women (19 breast sessions); BF with CF: No.= 22 women (138 breast sessions).

4.3 Breastfeeding frequency and duration

4.3.1 The association between breastfeeding frequency and

breastfeeding duration

No correlation was found between the duration of full BF and BF frequency/day of at two weeks and at four weeks. However, duration of any BF was significantly and positively and week correlated with BF frequency/day at two weeks (P<0.01; r=0.352) and four weeks (P<0.01; r=0.404). Duration of BF was also had a significant and positive association with frequency/day for fully BF infants at four weeks (P<0.05; r=0.298) (Figure 4.7).

Table 4.7. Correlation between BF frequency and BF duration

		BF Frequency		BF Frequency,		
				among fu	ll BF only	
			at 2wk	at 4wk	at 2wk	at 4wk
	Full BF	Correlation Coefficient	0.239	0.074	0.250	0.066
dura	duration	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.094	0.604	0.086	0.650
Spearman's		N	50	51	48	50
rho	BF	Correlation Coefficient	0.352	0.404	0.187	0.289
	duration	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.008	0.002	0.204	0.042
		N	55	55	48	50

Correlations

4.4 Association of breastfeeding duration with maternal and infant characteristics

Full BF duration was not statistically associated with maternal characteristics such as age, levels of education, and ethnicity and infants' gender (Figure 4.8). Total BF duration was also not associated with maternal and infant characteristics, with the exception of a positive association with parity of two or more (Figure 4.9).

	NO.	Full breastfeeding duration (wks)		
Characteristic	(total n=51)	Percentiles		
		25	50 (median)	75
$\begin{array}{c} Maternal \ age^{\#} \left(Y \right) \\ 21-24^{a} \\ 25-29^{a} \\ 30-34^{a} \\ \geq 35^{a} \end{array}$	6 6 23 16	10.00 16.00 12.00 16.00	14.00 18.00 16.00 18.00	30.00 21.00 20.00 20.00
<i>Maternal ethnicity</i> [*] NZ European ^a NZ Maori& others ^a	43 8	12.00 12.00	16.00 18.00	20.00 23.00
Maternal education [*] <bachelor<sup>a ≥Bachelor^a</bachelor<sup>	28 23	13.00 12.00	16.00 16.00	20.00 20.00
$Parity^{\#}(No.)$ 0^{a} 1^{a} $\geq 2^{a}$	19 26 14	11.50 12.00 16.00	16.00 16.00 16.00	21.00 20.00 20.00
<i>Mode of delivery</i> [*] Natural ^a Cesarean ^a	40 11	12.00 16.00	16.00 20.00	20.00 20.00
No. children living with [#] 0^{a} 1^{a} $\geq 2^{a}$	15 23 13	12.00 12.00 16.00	16.00 16.00 16.00	20.00 20.00 20.00

Table 4.8. Maternal characteristics and full-BF duration

	NO.	Full breastfeeding duration (wks)		
Characteristic	(total n=51)		Percentiles	
		25	50 (median)	75
Living with partner [*]				
No ^a	6	13.00	22.00	27.00
Yes ^a	45	12.00	16.00	20.00
Past breastfeeding $experience^{\#}$ (N= 48)				
No breastfed experience ^a	14	11.50	16.00	21.00
Breastfed $< 6 \text{ mons}^{-}$ (longest duration) Breastfed $\geq 6 \text{ mons}^{a}$	13	9.00	16.00	18.00
(longest duration)	21	16.00	20.00	20.00
Infant gender [*]				
Female ^a	22	15.00	20.00	20.00
Male ^a	29	12.00	16.00	20.00

^{*}Mann-Whitney Test; [#]Kruskal Wallis Test;

a-b median values in a column followed by different superscripts are significantly different in mean rank at the significant level of P< 0.05.

	NO	Any breastfeeding duration (wks)		
Characteristic	(total n=59)	Percentiles		
		25	50 (median)	75
Maternal $age^{\#}(Y)$				
21-24 ^a	7	6.00	40.00	48.00
25-29 ^a	6	37.00	46.00	48.00
30-34 ^a	28	21.00	40.00	48.00
$\geq 35^{a}$	18	36.00	48.00	48.00
Maternal ethnicity*				
NZ European ^a	51	20.00	44.00	48.00
NZ Maori& others ^a	8	34.00	46.00	48.00
Maternal education [*]				
<bachelor<sup>a</bachelor<sup>	32	17.00	44.00	48.00
≥Bachelor ^a	27	28.00	44.00	48.00

Table 4.9. Maternal characteristics and breastfeeding duration

	NO	Any breastfeeding duration (wks)		
Characteristic	NO.	Percentiles		
	(total n=59)	25	50 (median)	75
Parity(No.) [#]				
0 ^a	19	20.00	36.00	48.00
1 ^{ab}	26	15.00	44.00	48.00
$\geq 2^{\circ}$	14	47.00	48.00	48.00
Mode of delivery [*]				
Natural ^a	44	26.00	44.00	48.00
Cesarean ^a	15	12.00	48.00	48.00
No. children living with [#]				
0^a	20	20.00	38.00	48.00
1" •	26	15.00	44.00	48.00
$\geq 2^a$	13	46.00	48.00	48.00
Living with partner [*]				
No ^a	6	13.50	48.00	48.00
Yes ^a	53	24.00	44.00	48.00
Past breastfeeding experience [#] (N=55)				
No breastfed experience ^a	19	20.00	36.00	48.00
(longest duration) Breastfed >6 mons ^a	15	12.00	44.00	48.00
(longest duration)	21	44.00	48.00	48.00
Infant gender*				
Female ⁴	26	27.00	48.00	48.00
Male"	33	20.00	44.00	48.00

*Mann-Whitney Test; [#]Kruskal Wallis Test;

a-b median values in a column followed by different superscripts are significantly different in mean rank at the significant level of P < 0.05.

4.5 Case study— respondents breastfed infants till 48 weeks

BF behaviours of four participants who breastfed their babies till 48 weeks were examined. Two of them had less than eight breastfeeds/day at two or four weeks postpartum; the other two participants reported at least 16 breastfeeds/day at two or four weeks postpartum. A wide variability of BF practices was observed during the first year after birth, which may be the result of the diverse characteristics of personal BF styles and the interaction of infants and mothers. BF practices were also reported to be influenced by other factors including infants and maternal health status, fussy periods, home and outside environments, opinions from people and organizations such as the Plunket Society.

4.5.1 Cases with lower BF frequency during the first four weeks postpartum

The respondent AO first breastfed her infant within ten minutes after delivery. She said she was demand-breastfeeding. At two weeks she fed the baby seven times/day, the longest interval between BF was five hours and total length of BF sessions/day was nine hours. The BF sessions varied between 60-75 minutes. From 2-10 weeks BF frequency varied between 6-9 times/day, the longest intervals between BF generally ranged from 4.5-6 hours, with the exception — nine hours at six weeks, when AO said the baby "doesn't usually sleep for that long without waking". During this period the total length of BF sessions per day went from nine hours at two weeks down to three hours at ten weeks. BF sessions varied greatly (15-90

minutes), but there was a trend towards greater proportion of shorter feeds (Figure 4.10).

At 12 weeks, the baby was fed 11 times/day, in which most BF sessions ranged between 10-23 minutes with median 20 minutes (but having several extraordinary longer BF sessions — more than 100 minutes). The mother said "the baby was more unsettled and feeding more than usual", but total length of BF sessions was similar to that reported at ten weeks when the infant received six breastfeeds/day. From 16-24 weeks the baby was fed 6-7 times/day, the longest interval between BF gradually increased from 6 to 9.5 hours, total length of BF sessions/day decreased from 3.4 to 1.4 hours. Moreover, BF sessions at 16 weeks ranged from 20-35 minutes and one BF session of 60 minutes, and then down to 5-15 minutes (range) at 24 weeks (Figure 4.10).

At 28 weeks, CF and formula were introduced to the infant. Between 28-44 weeks, the baby had 5-6 breastfeeds/day, and the longest interval between BF was between 3.8-8.5 hours. BF sessions ranged between 5-15 minutes, and the total length of BF sessions/day dropped to about 0.5 hours. At 48 weeks, she breastfed three times/day, mostly at night, and "one in the afternoon" with formula given during the in daytime. The longest interval between BF was about 11 hours, and each BF session was no more than five minutes, with a total of 13 minutes in the 24 hours (Figure 4.10).

Concerning BF sessions, the variation and length decreased after the first ten weeks. The total length of BF sessions/day generally declined (from nine hours at two weeks to less than one hour at 48 weeks), which may be owing to "more efficiently and quickly breastfeeding" the mother explained. The longest interval between BF fluctuated, but remained more than six hours/day from 32-48 weeks (Figure 4.10). During the observed time frame, AO said she was following advice from the Plunket nurse to feed the baby every 3-4 hours and introduce solid foods in the 6th month. She also mentioned several factors which had an influence on BF frequency including a latching problem, sick baby, and unexplained unsettled condition of the infant. She was said that "when the infant got sick, which put everything out of wack". AO generally thought she breastfed successfully and believed BF was important.



A: Respondent AO: Breastfeeding frequency per day during the first 12 months postpartum

B: Respondent AO: Longest interval between breastfeeds per day during the first 12 months postpartum





C: Respondent AO: Total length of breastfeeding sessions per day during the first 12 months postpartum

D: Respondent AO: Length of each breastfeeding session per day during the first 12 months postpartum



Figure 4.10. Breastfeeding practices for the respondent AO who has low BF frequency at four weeks. A: breastfeeding frequency; B: longest interval between breastfeeds; C: total length of breastfeeding sessions; D: length of each breastfeeding session.

Note: One BF session at 2 weeks of 165 minutes (owing to co-sleeping) was omitted.

The respondent BG first breastfed her baby within 40 minutes after delivery and breastfed on-demand. At two weeks she breastfed the baby six times/day, the longest interval between BF was 5.5 hours, and BF sessions ranged between 20-30 minutes with total in 24 hours of 2.7 hours. From two to six weeks the number of BF dramatically increased from 6-16 times/day, according to the mother's report this may be owing to "he was having problems with bowel motions and wind" and "he was more irritable than normal, and more irritable after doing spits". The longest interval between BF remained between 4.3-5.5 hours, the total length of BF sessions/day was between 2.3-4.3 hours, and the median BF sessions decreased from 30-5 minutes (Figure 4.11).

From 6-12 weeks, the baby was breastfed less frequently from 16-7 feeds/day, the total length of BF sessions/day declined between 3.1-1.1 hours, and the median BF sessions was between 5-15 minutes (range between 2-25 minutes). The longest interval between BF increased from 3.7-8.6 hours. The mother reported at 10 weeks "he does not normally sleep as long at night as he did, and has been a lot better in his wind and bowel motions since going to the osteopath", and said at 12 weeks "more unsettled than normal because were travelling in the car and ferry" (Figure 4.11).

At 20 weeks, the infant was given CF in addition to BF. Between 16-24 weeks, breastfeeds remained between 7-9 times/day, while the longest interval between BF declined from 8.6-5.5 hours, and the total length of BF sessions/day slightly decreased from 2.8-2 hours. The median BF sessions decreased from 20-25 minutes at 16-20 weeks to 15 minutes at 24 weeks. From 28-48 weeks, BF frequency/day decreased from 8-3 times/day, the total length of BF sessions in 24 hours was decreased from 1.7-0.5 hours, and the median BF sessions was between 12.5-7

minutes (range 3-40 minutes), and the longest interval between BF varied between 9.3-13.8 hours. BG reported "breastfeeds getting less and quantity of solids increased" (Figure 4.11).

Overall, the longest interval between BF generally increased during the 48 weeks postpartum. BF frequency/day and the total length of BF sessions/day decreased with time, and BF sessions with most observations \leq 30 minutes (Figure 4.11).

During the first 12 months, based on the mother's reports, it seems that the baby struggled with problems of bowel motions and wind, which made "the baby irritable and distracted". Additionally, unsettled conditions and increasing feeding solids were other factors to have an effect on BF frequency. However, BG generally reported that she breastfed the baby successfully and thought BF was important.



A: Respondent BG: Breastfeeding frequency per day during the first 12 months postpartum

B: Respondent BG: Longest interval between breastfeeds per day during the first 12 months postpartum







D: Respondent BG: Length of each breastfeeding session per day during the first 12 months postpartum



Figure 4.11. Breastfeeding practices for the respondent BG who has low BF frequency at two weeks. A: breastfeeding frequency; B: longest interval between breastfeeds; C: total length of breastfeeding sessions; D: length of each breastfeeding session.

4.5.2 Cases with higher BF frequency during the first four weeks postpartum

The participant BA initiated BF within one hour after birth. She reported that she breastfed the baby on demand. At two weeks she breastfed the baby 17 time/day, the longest interval between BF was 4.5 hours/day and the total length of BF sessions/day was 4.3 hours/day. BF sessions ranged between 5-20 minutes (median 13.5 minutes). From 2-10 weeks the number of BF/day was between 15-21 times/day, the longest interval between BF generally increased from 4.5-6.1 hours/day, the mother said that the baby's sleeping patterns changed from "awake more during the day time, a little less often at night" to "often sleeping for 5-6 hours". The total length of BF sessions/day was 5.1 hours at 6 weeks and had reduced to 2.8 hours. The median BF sessions nearly remained around 10 minutes (range between 2-25 minutes) (Figure 4.12).

At 12 weeks, BA breastfed the baby 16 times/day, the longest interval between BF was seven hours/day, and the total length of BF sessions/day was 2.2 hours/day, and median BF sessions in 24 hours was eight minutes and ranged between 2.5-15 minutes. The mother reported that the baby's feeding and sleeping was normal, "starting sleeping through the night sometimes and maybe a little quicker in feeding", and also she had a good feeling for feeding the baby. Compared to BF practices at 12 weeks, between 16-24 weeks, the overall numbers of breastfeeds increased (between 18-22 times/day), while the longest interval between BF remained similar (between 3.3-3.6 hours/day) as did the total length of BF sessions/day (between 2.5-3.3 hours/day). The BF sessions tended to be shorter (ranged 1-15.5 minutes, median 5-7.5 minutes). At 16 weeks, the mother said "she started waking at 12AM.,

wanted to feed every hour till six AM., and breastfed a bit shorter during the day time". At 24 weeks, the infant was given CF, and BF was different, the mother said "sleeping were worse than normal— woke more in the night, had more feeds" (Figure 4.12).

From 28-48 weeks, the number of breastfeeds remained stable between 13-14 times/day which was less frequent than before. The total length of BF sessions/day was 1.5-2.3 hours/day and median BF sessions was five minutes (range 2-15 minutes) at 40 weeks. There was an unusual case — 14.3 hours/day of the total length of BF sessions/day and 40 minutes median BF sessions (range 7-75 minutes). The longest interval between BF remained between 4-4.6 hours/day. At 48 weeks the longest interval between BF was 13 hours/day (Figure 4.12).

All in all, BA breastfed the baby at least 13 times/day throughout the period of the first 48 weeks whenever she perceived the baby needed a BF. At 16 weeks she reported that she felt exhausted especially for the night feeds, but she said she had to feed the baby, because she did not want to get the baby upset and leave the baby to cry. During the first 36 weeks, BF sessions ranged 1-25 minutes, and the longest interval between BF did not tend to increase and fluctuated between 3-7 hours (Figure 4.12). Generally, BA felt BF was important and she did successfully.



A: Respondent BA: Breastfeeding frequency per day during the first 12 months postpartum

B: Respondent BA: Longest interval between breastfeeds per day during the first 12 months postpartum







D: Respondent BA: Length of each breastfeeding session per day during the first 12 months postpartum



Figure 4.12. Breastfeeding practices for the respondent BA who has high BF frequency at two weeks. A: breastfeeding frequency; B: longest interval between breastfeeds; C: total length of breastfeeding sessions; D: length of each breastfeeding session.

Note: Two BF sessions at 40 weeks of 165 and 275minutes (owing to co-sleeping) were omitted.

The respondent BD first breastfed her baby about ten minutes after delivery. She said she was generally BF to a schedule. She said that during the first half year she BF roughly every 3-4 hours during the day, and 2-3 times at night when the baby woke. This pattern then changed to about four hourly breastfed during 24 hours, and finally at 48 weeks the infant only breastfed scarcely. At two weeks, she breastfed the baby ten times/day, the longest interval between BF was four hours/day, the total length of BF sessions/day was 3.8 hours/day and median BF sessions was 25 minutes, ranging from 10-45 minutes. And four and six weeks, the infant was breastfed from 16-14 times/day with short feeds (median about five minutes, with total 1.1-2.5 hours/day). The mother reported the infants was "more unsettled than usual in the evening". The longest interval between BF remained about 5.5 hours/day (Figure 4.13).

From 8-16 weeks, the number of breastfeeds declined from 14-11 times/day, the longest interval between BF ranged between 5.5-7.1 hours/day, and the total length of BF sessions/day dropped between 1-1.8 hours/day. The median BF sessions also remained at 5 minutes and ranged 2-8 minutes, with a relatively wide variation at eight weeks (1-20 minutes). The mother reported at eight weeks, "bigger stretches at night without needing a feed, went for 6.5 hours during the night", and "usually wakes once in the night". At 20 weeks, CF were introduced to the infant, and there was nearly no change in BF frequency (ten times/day), longest interval between BF (6.4 hours/day), total length of BF sessions/day (0.9 hours/day), and the median BF session (five minutes), compared to the prior eight weeks (Figure 4.13).

Between 24-28 weeks, BD breastfed the baby 12 times/day, she said "feed more frequently due to mastitis", while the longest interval between BF (6.5-6.7

hours/day), total length of BF sessions/day (1.1-1 hours/day), and median BF sessions (five minutes) remained similar as 20 weeks. From 32-48 weeks, the number of breastfeeds decreased from 8-4 times/day, the longest interval increased from 7.4-12.4 hours/day, but total length of BF sessions and the median BF sessions was hardly changed (Figure 4.13).

Throughout the observed period, the baby was breastfed frequently — at least eight times/day during the first 36 weeks, and normally had short BF sessions (majority of feeds less than ten minutes with median five minutes at the majority observations). The longest interval between BF increased from four hours to above 12 hours from 2-48 weeks (Figure 4.13).

This respondent reported BD breastfed the infant between 3-4 hours during the daytime, which remained during the period of about more than the first half year. Night-time breastfeeds were affected by sleeping patterns of the infant. She mentioned that she and her infant was sick and noisy family environment (due to friends staying), which may have an influence on BF practices as well. Overall, BD thought she breastfed successfully and BF was important.



A: Respondent BD: Breastfeeding frequency per day during the first 12 months postpartum

B: Respondent BD: Longest interval between breastfeeds per day during the first 12 months postpartum



C: Respondent BD: Total length of breastfeeding sessions per day during the first 12 months postpartum



D: Respondent BD: Length of each breastfeeding session per day during the first 12 months postpartum





Chapter Five Discussion

5.1 Method

In this present study, BF practices were observed by 24-hour recall. Through this method, all activities (such as feeding, sleeping and wakefulness) that involved the infants during the last 24 hours were noted. Some other studies have collected data by asking a few quantitative questions about BF practices previous day, such as how many times was the baby breastfed, and the length of the average BF session, instead of collecting a detailed 24 hour recall of feeding practices and times as was done in the current study. Using quantitative questions to collect data may be easy and straightforward. However, the 24 hour recall method used in this current study provides more detailed data, which allow the examination BF practices in detail, and is anticipated to facilitate the understanding of BF practices deeply.

However, the method used in the present study is more difficult and more complicated for analyzing the data. Several difficulties were found in this present study. Firstly, selecting and calculating the observed variables required many decisions for specific issues, such as defining the BF sessions and the longest interval between BF, and these have not been discussed in previous studies on BF. For instance, in two studies that focused on BF practices, one of the studies (Hörnell et al., 1999) did not state how they defined BF sessions or the longest interval between breastfeeds. Similarly, the other relied on the mothers' definition (such as questions were "About how long does an average BF last?" and "In an average 24hour period, what is the longest time for you, the mother, between breastfeeds or expressing milk?") (Shealy et al., 2008).

Moreover, it was difficult to define BF sessions if infants were BF while co-sleeping with breastfeeds. Even though it was likely they occurred, these were not reported by other studies. For example, Hörnell et al. (1999) indicated that there were infants BF and co-sleeping , but did not mention how they defined the BF sessions for such cases and did not discuss the accuracy of the data. There is no clear definition of how to identify and calculate the length of BF sessions, and thus the estimate used in this study is only approximate.

In addition, BF is not an isolated behaviour, it is related to many factors including maternal and infant factors and home environment. Targeted questions about BF practices may be sufficient to gain information for national trends in BF, but it is insufficient to show the full story of a BF situation. For example it is unclear why BF frequency changed. The 24-hour recall method (including detailed activity records of infants) used in the present study will help to elucidate BF practices.

Increasing the number of 24-hour recall and conducting home visits for checking and supplementing the data collected by 24-hour recall may increase the data accuracy, as suggested by Quandt (1986). Some additional questions about normal BF practices (like "how many breastfeeds/day do you usually give the infant during recent months") may be useful for collecting data on general BF practices. Doing so may supplement the data obtained by 24-hour recall, since it only can indicate BF practices of a particular day.

5.2 Demographic characteristics

Sixty-one healthy and last-stage pregnant women were recruited in this study. The demographic characteristics are discussed as follows.

Firstly, there are various ethnic groups in NZ, among which, in 2013, Europeans made up the largest group (nearly three fourths of the total NZ population), and Maori the second largest ethnic group (14.9% of the NZ population) (Statistics New Zealand, 2014). European women were also the highest proportion of women giving birth in 2010, although higher birth rates belonged to minority groups (10.8% and 11.4% respectively for Maori and Pacific women of reproductive age) (Ministry of Health, 2012c). Like the NZ population, in this present study the majority of participants were European/Pakeha women (87%), and a small part identified as Maori (7%) and other ethnicities (7%). Although the proportion of European participants was higher and the proportion of Maori participants lower compared to the proportions in the NZ population. Studies in NZ have found that Europeans had the highest BF intention (Morton et al., 2010) and practice (Plunket Society, 2010). It may be part of the explanation of the high full-BF rate during early postpartum weeks (fully BF infants 81%-78% at 2-6 weeks) in the present study as compared to the national rate of 65% exclusive/fully BF infants aged between about 2-6 weeks in 2009 (Plunket Society, 2010).

Secondly, the mean age of participants was 32.1 ± 0.6 years with more than three quarters were above 30 years old. The highest fertility rate of NZ women was between 30-34 years in 2010 (Statistics New Zealand, 2012). Ninety percent of participants were living with their partner, and about 70% were lived together with their other children. These situations were consistent with characteristics of current

NZ females (Statistics New Zealand, 2005). For living arrangements, older women in NZ were more likely to live with their family (partner and children) than younger women. In 2001, among mothers aged 30-34 years old, only 5% were living alone (Statistics New Zealand, 2005).

In this study, the participants had a relatively higher education level — 88.4% had attained at least a tertiary degree compared to national education status. The proportion of the NZ female population aged more than 15 years old with bachelor degree or higher is 19% and with other tertiary qualifications is 31% (Ministry of Education, 2013), although these percentage will be higher if it is only referring to NZ females aged more than 30 years old. NZ mothers with higher educational qualifications were more likely to plan to BF their infants (Morton et al., 2010). Therefore, in this present study, the higher level of education is likely to be a factor which impacts positively on BF practices and hence to limit the ability to generalize the findings.

Sixty-eight percent of participants were multiparous. All of these women had experience which may trigger them to join this study (four women did not respond to this question, so their experience is unknown). Among them, 56% had breastfed an older child for more than six months. Therefore, they may have had an expectation regarding BF this infant. This suggestion is in accordance with the study of the Growing Up in New Zealand — women who breastfed their first infant more than six months were more likely to BF the subsequent infant longer (Morton et al., 2010). However, in this present study there was no association between past BF experience and BF duration (P > 0.05).

Most of participants (72%) in this study had a vaginal delivery which is the primary delivery mode among NZ women. This data was in accord with the maternity report by NZ Ministry of Health (2012c), 65% women had a vaginal delivery during the April 2009 to March 2010.

Finally, all infants who participated in this current study were healthy. Ninety-eight percent had normal weight and only one had a low birth weight (less than 2500g). The percentage of male infants was slightly more than females (55.7% vs. 44.3%), which was similar to the recent status of gender constitution of new births in NZ (female vs. male: 48.6% vs. 51.4%) which was reported in 2010 by NZ Ministry of Health (2012c).

Overall, in some aspects the participants in this present study had similar demographic characteristics with the 30-years-old NZ female population, such as living arrangements, and infant delivery method. However, there are a few of differences such as the majority of the participants were European and they were more highly educated than the average NZ women. These differences suggest better BF practices compared to the population average, including longer BF duration and timely introduction CF.

5.3 Percentage breastfeeding during the first 12 months

BF in NZ is advocated and supported by the Ministry of Health and community organizations such as the Plunket Society and La Leche League. However, there is a sharply decreased BF rate after relatively high BF initiation (Plunket Society, 2010; Ministry of Health, 2009). For women, maintaining BF is a challenge. In the

current study, results showed that 78% were fully BF at six weeks postpartum. This result is about 13% higher than the reported rate of exclusive and full BF between two and six weeks in 2009 (Plunket Society, 2010) (Table 5.1). In the present study, the rate of full BF subsequently declined from 78% (six weeks) to 61% (16 weeks). It then decreased greatly to 37%, and then to 7% at week 20, and 24 respectively (Table 5.1). The Plunket Society (2010) also reported a sharp decrease in the rate of exclusive and full BF — down to 55% for the period between 10-15 weeks, and then to 26% between16-28 weeks. In this current study, at 36 weeks 68% infants were still BF which was higher than 48% reported in the Growing Up in New Zealand study (Morton et al., 2012). At 48 weeks, 48% of mothers had stopped BF their infant (Table 5.1). This result coincides with the challenge — the low percentage of NZ mothers who continue to breastfeed their baby for at least one year (Ministry of Health, 2009).

Infants age (weeks)	Sources	BF types	Percentage
б	The current study	Full BF	78%
2-6	Plunket Society, (2009)	Exclusive &full BF	65%
16	The current study	Full BF	61%
10-15 weeks & 6 days	Plunket Society, (2009)	Exclusive &full BF	55%
20	The current study	Full BF	37%
24	The current study	Full BF	7%
16-28	Plunket Society, (2009)	Exclusive &full BF	26%
36	The current study	BF	68%
36	Morton et al. (2012)	BF	48%
48	The current study	BF	52%

Table 5.1. BF rates: comparison of current study to national data

The NZ Ministry of Health (2011) recommends supplementing BF with CF around

six months. However, in the present study, 9% of mothers started to supplement BF with CF at four months, and 39% at five months. Another NZ study conducted in Dunedin showed that 45% (n=33) were introduced to CF before four months (Heath et al., 2002). Such early introduction of CF to infants was also been found by a Western Australia study, in which the median age for introducing CF was 17.6 weeks (Scott et al., 2009). Introducing CF around four to five months has been persistently not recommended by the WHO (2002) and the Ministry of Health in NZ (2011). The NZ government has made efforts to increase the age for introducing CF and prolong BF duration (Ministry of Health, 2008).

At or beyond six months, breastmilk normally is not able to provide enough nutrients to meet an infants' needs (Ministry of Health, 2011), and so CF play an important role to support infants' health and development. In this present study, 94% infants had been given CF by six months (including the 24% of infants who had stopped BF).

5.4 Breastfeeding frequency

5.4.1 The variation of breastfeeding frequency

This study showed a wide variation of BF frequency at each observation throughout the first 12 months. For instance, BF frequency for fully BF infants at week two ranged from 5-21 times/day, at week 20 from 4-22 times/day; for mixed-feeding infants at week two ranged from 1-15 times/day; for BF infants receiving CF at week 20 ranged from 4-10 times/day, and at 48 weeks from 1-23 feeds/day; for mixedfeeding infants receiving CF at week 20 from1-6 times/day and at week 48 from 1-5 feeds/day.

Other studies have also found that there is variability in the daily frequency of BF. Table 5.2 summarises these results. A Western Australia study found exclusively BF infants aged between 1-6 months were breastfed 6-18 times/day with the mean 11±3 times/day (Kent et al., 2006). A Swedish study indicated that infants who were exclusively BF were fed about 4-15 times/day at week two, and about 4-11 times/day at week 20 (Hörnell et al., 1999). An American study showed that the range of BF frequency was wide for the first year postpartum. For example, at one and two months it ranged from 3-12 feeds/day; at 5-6 months ranged between 2-10 times/day; at 12 months ranged between 1-8 times/day (Shealy et al., 2008).

Infants age (weeks)	Source	BF types	Range of BF frequency/day
2	The ourrent study	Full BF	5-21
2	The current study	Mixed feeding	1-15
2	Hörnell et al. (1999)	Exclusive BF	about 4-15
4	Shooly at al. (2008)	BF (any BF)	3-12
8	Sileary et al. (2008)	BF (any BF)	3-12
		Full BF	4-22
20	The example study	BF with CF	4-10
20	The current study	Mixed feeding with	1-6
		CF	
20	Hörnell et al.(1999)	Exclusive BF	about 4-11
4-24	Kent et al. (2006)	Exclusive BF	6-18
20	$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{h}} = 1 (2) 0$	DE (onv DE)	2-10
24	Sheary et al. (2008)	DF (ally DF)	2-10
		BF with CF	1-23
48	The current study	Mixed feeding with	1.5
		CF	1-3
48	Shealy et al. (2008)	BF (any BF)	1.8
			1-0

Table 5.2. Summary of BF frequency of research studies

Many factors may help explain the variability of BF frequency. In this present study, influential factors were reported by the women, including maternal health status, infants' health, fussy period, home and outside environments, opinions from people around women and social organizations such as Plunket Society. Additionally, varied BF requirements for infants may be part of the explanation. Infants have different stomach capacity and different gastric emptying time, and also mothers have different breast capacity (a small breast capacity needs more feeds in order to timely empty the breast) (Kent et al., 2012).

The range of BF frequency may suggest that BF is a personal behaviour and has personal styles, because it occurs through interactive processes by both infants and mothers (Hill et al., 1999; Kent, 2007). Therefore, the number of breastfeeds may not be a reliable indicator of successful BF practices and milk production as they ranged widely with mothers who have sufficient milk production (Kent et al., 2012). Nevertheless, based on the literatures many women expressed concern as to whether the baby was getting enough milk through BF (Morton et al., 2012). So, women may need to be educated more on how to recognise some signs of normal BF rather than count the number of BF.

5.4.2 The difference of breastfeeding frequency among feed types

At most obervations during the first 12 months in this present study, a significantly lower BF frequency was observed for BF infants receiving formula supplementation than for infants who were fully BF or BF and receiving CF. This significant difference of BF frequency may be partly due to the fact that in some cases the intention of introducing formula was to decrease and replace the BF (stated by some mothers).

Similar results were found by another large cohort study in Norway (Lande et al., 2003), and a Euro-Growth study (Freeman et al., 2000). The Euro-Growth Study stated that at one month the BF frequency of fully BF infants was significantly higher than BF frequency for those infants whose BF was supplemented with formula (7.1 ± 1.5 vs. 6.1 ± 1.1 , p<0.0001) (Freeman et al., 2000). Another Swedish study by Hörnell et al. (2001) examined BF patterns before and after introducing formula, and the results directly pointed out that formula was negatively associated with the number of breastfeeds.

5.5 Longest intervals between breastfeeds

5.5.1 The variation of longest interval between breastfeeds

In this study, the range for the longest interval between breastfeeds remained wide over the first 48 weeks. For example, the longest interval between BF for fully BF infants at week two ranged from 3-10 hours, at week 20 from 3-16 hours; for mixedfeeding infants at week two ranged from 4-24 hours; for BF infants receiving CF at week 20 ranged from 4-12 hours, and at 48 weeks from 3-24 hours; for mixed feeding infants receiving CF at week 20 from 6-24 hours, and at week 48 from 8-24 hours (Table 5.3). The wide range of intervals between BF was observed by other studies as well. An American study showed the longest interval between BF ranged from 3.8-11.5 hours at four weeks and from 3.3-12.0 hours at eight weeks (Quandt, 1986). An Australia study showed a great variation of intervals between breastfeeds (4 minutes-10 hours 58 minutes) for exclusive BF infants who were between 1-6 months (Kent et al., 2006). This data is summarized in Table 5.3.

Infants age (weeks)	Source	BF types	Range of the longest interval between BF (hrs)
2	The current study	Full BF	3-10
2		Mixed feeding	4-24
4	O_{uandt} (1086)	BF (any BF)	3.8-11.5
8	Qualitit, (1980)	BF (any BF)	3.3-12.0
		Full BF	3-16
20		BF with CF	4-12
	The current study	Mixed feeding with CF	6-24
4.0	-	BF with CF	3-24
40		Mixed feeding with CF	8-24
4-24	Kent et al. (2006)	Exclusive BF	Range of Intervals between BF 4 mins-10 hrs 58 mins

Table 5.3. Summary of the longest interval between breastfeeds of research studies

In this current study, the longest interval between BF seems likely to be influenced by the infants' sleeping patterns based on the mothers' reports. Sleeping patterns vary between infants, and Haig (2014) also identified a genetic component for sleeping.

Concerning intervals between breastfeeds, generally it is advocated that these be short during the first several weeks (Lang, 2002). This suggestion may relate to the physical character of the neonate — the small size of the stomach, and relatively quick digestion of breastmilk (emptying breastmilk in about 60-90mins) (Noonan, 2011). Short intervals between BF may also help to promote breastmilk synthesis and establishment (Lang 2002; Prime et al., 2012).

5.5.2 The difference of longest interval between breastfeeds among breastfeeding types

In this present study, the longest interval between BF for mixed-fed infants was significantly longer at the majority of observations than that for fully BF infants. This is not surprising. Longer intervals between BF are more common among formula-fed babies (Lang, 2002). One potential reason is that the introduction of formula may displace BF (Hörnell et al., 2001), so intervals between BF are prolonged. Moreover, for infants, the gastric emptying time may vary with different foods. Formula generally needs more time to digest than human milk (Vivatvakin et al., 2010).

5.6 Length of breastfeeding sessions

5.6.1 The variation of the length of breastfeeding sessions

This study showed a wide variation of the length of sucking sessions throughout the first 48 weeks postpartum. For instance, for fully BF infants the length of BF sessions at week two ranged from 2-205 minutes/feed, and at week 20 from 2-68 minutes/feed. For mixed-feeding infants BF sessions at week two ranged from 7.5-60 minutes/feed. For BF infants receiving CF at week 20 BF sessions ranged from 1-100 minutes/feed, and at week 48 from 4-85 minutes/feed. For mixed feeding infants receiving CF at week 20 BF sessions at week 48 from 5-40 minutes, and at week 48 from 3-35 minutes.

Varied length of BF sessions has been observed by other studies as well. Hörnell et al. (1999) found BF sessions among exclusively BF Swedish infants varied widely, particularly during the night time (up to 98 minutes at week two and up to 61 minutes at week 20). An American study showed that feeds during the day for breastfed infants at week four ranged from 5.8-52.2 minutes (mean \pm SD: 20.4 ± 9.7 minutes), and at week eight from 5.7-43.9 minutes (mean \pm SD: 19.7 ± 8.1 minutes) (Quandt, 1986). Another American study also indicated that the average length of BF session in the 12 months postpartum, as estimated by the mothers, could be less than 10 minutes or more than 50 minutes (Shealy et al., 2008). This data is summarized in Table 5.4.

Infants age (weeks)	Source	BF types	The len suckling/fee	gth of eds (mins)
2	The current study	Full BF	Range	2-205
2	The current study	Mixed feeding		7.5-60
4	Over dt (1096)	BF (any BF)	Dongo	5.8-52.2
8	Quallut, (1980)	BF (any BF)	Kange	5.7-43.9
		Full BF		2-68
20		BF with CF		1-100
	The current study	Mixed feeding with CF	Range	5-40
10	-	BF with CF	_	4-85
40		Mixed feeding with CF		3-35
4-48	Shealy et al. (2008)	BF (any BF)	Range	<10- ≥50

Table 5.4. Summary of the length of BF sessions of research studies

A wide range of the length of BF sessions may be normal and belong to the personal feeding styles of mothers and babies (Noonan, 2011). Some infants are able to get a large volume of breastmilk during a short period (such as 5-10 minutes), whereas others may need longer (such as 15-20 minutes) (Noonan, 2011). In the current study, some feeds lasted less than 5 minutes and some were more than 70 minutes,

which may indicate that the length of suckling time depends on the infant's demand. Although according to the literature, in particular cases long feeds may result from ineffective suckling or the latching problem (Watt & Mead, 2013), and short feeds may occur because infants are too sick or weak to suck (Noonan, 2011) or refuse the breast (Hytten et al., 1958).

Additionally, the length of BF sessions was generally shorter at the bottom of the range and much longer at the top of the range in the present study than BF sessions in the other studies. Furthermore, for the longer feeds in the present study, some of them were a result of co-sleeping or combining other activities' with BF (some mothers did not record the time points for BF separately from other activities). In Shealy et al. (2008), the average length of BF sessions was estimated and reported by the mothers, so it was unlikely to include these incidents.

5.6.2 Changes of the length of breastfeeding sessions over time

The results in this present study show that in the period between 16-48 weeks the majority of BF sessions tended to be shorter than those that generally occurred during the previous 12 weeks regardless of feeding methods. For example, BF sessions for both fully BF and mixed fed infants became shorter over time. (At week two, BF sessions were most commonly between 20-29 minutes for fully BF infants, <40 minutes for mixed fed infants, and then at week 24 became \leq 10 minutes for all of infants). By 48 weeks the majority of BF sessions were within 10 minutes. This may be owing to more efficient suckling and quicker feeding during the latter period of the first-year postpartum as reported by the mothers in the present study. Similar
findings were observed by Shealy et al. (2008), whose study showed a trend of decreased length of BF sessions over time in the first 12 months with most BF sessions taking less than 19 minutes at 12 months. However, this present study still observed that 3% of feeds were more than 60 minutes at 12 months. The majority of these feeds were due to co-sleeping reported by the mothers.

5.7 The association between breastfeeding frequency/day at2 and 4 weeks and breastfeeding duration

In this study, a positive relationship was observed between BF duration and BF frequency/day at week two and four (week two p=0.008; week four p=0.002). BF duration was also had a significant and positive correlation with frequency/day for fully BF infants at four weeks (p=0.04). A Swedish study also showed that longer duration of any and exclusive BF was associated with increased BF frequency at two weeks (Hörnell et al., 1999). Concerning the strength level of these positive correlations observed in this present study, results showed they were all weak (BF frequency & BF duration, at week two: r=0.352, at week four: r=0.404; full-BF frequency & BF duration at week four: r=0.289), and no correlation between full-BF frequency/day and full BF duration/BF duration at week two.

These weak/ no correlations may be due to the relatively small sample size (BF infants: n=55; full-BF infants: n=50). Another reason may be that higher numbers of breastfeeds is not a necessary factor for longer BF duration. A wide range of BF frequency among mothers who have sufficient milk supply suggests that how many times a baby is breastfed may not be a concern when mothers have a sufficient milk

supply and successful BF (Kent et al., 2012). However, low BF frequency per day may be a symptom of BF problems such as insufficient milk supply or bottle feeding that lead to early BF cessation (Woolridge, 1996; Huang et al., 2009).

5.8 Association of breastfeeding duration with maternal and infant characteristics

In this study, there was no correlation to be observed between BF/full BF duration and maternal and infant characteristics, with the exception of parity. This was different from what has been shown in the literature. In western countries, older, more educated and married women were more likely to breastfeed infants longer (Callen & Pinelli, 2004; Meedya et al., 2010). In NZ studies, younger single mothers, or younger primiparas were vulnerable to early stop BF (Ford et al., 1994; Morton et al., 2012). Another NZ study involving a convenience sample (102 primiparous women) showed the participants who had education more than 12th grade were significantly more likelihood of exclusively BF infants at 6 weeks than who had education \leq 12th grade (Levine et al., 2003). Additionally, living with partner and enhancing partner's support has been advocated, so as to help NZ women to overcome BF difficulties and then prolonging BF duration (Heath et al., 2002). However, no correlation was found between these factors and BF/full BF duration in the present study, which may be owing to relatively small sample size.

In this current study, there was still no relationship between delivery methods (vaginal/caesarean) and BF/full BF duration. According to a review by Thulier and Mercer (2009), the effect of delivery methods on BF duration is not consistent. In

former studies, delivery methods were more likely to have an impact on BF outcomes, but recent studies found there was no correlation between them (Thulier & Mercer, 2009).

Regarding the correlation between parity and BF duration, previous findings are conflicting. Some studies show a correlation between them and some studies do not (Thulier & Mercer, 2009). This current study observed an association between parity and BF duration but not with full BF duration. BF experience was not related to BF duration, which was also showed in this current study. However, the Growing Up in NZ study found women who breastfed previous children more than 6 months were more likely to breastfeed the current baby longer (Morton et al., 2010).

5.9 Case studies

Regarding the case studies in this present study, there are several findings of interest, which may arouse thinking or directions for future studies.

Firstly, for all four cases, the BF frequency did not directly decline when CF was introduced. Even 2-3 months after introducing CF, three infants still remained the same BF frequency or slightly more feeds as at the time of introducing CF. It seems for these four infants there was no influence of CF on BF frequency. Mothers usually explained changes in BF frequency as being when the infants became unsettled, sick or fussy, or had disordered sleeping.

Secondly, the level of BF frequency during the first four weeks postpartum was consistent over the latter period. For example, two infants who had the lower level of BF frequency during the first four weeks, continued to be breastfed at the lower level of BF frequency till 48 weeks. Specifically, one infant was breastfed 5-7 feeds/day at most weeks before 44 weeks; this then declined to three feeds/day at week 48. The other infant was breastfed \leq 7 feeds/day at the majority of the observed times, and then went down to three breastfeeds/day at week 44 and week 48 (the exception for this infant was 11-16 feeds/day during 4-10 weeks, because the infant was sick). Two infants who had the higher level of BF frequency during the first four weeks, continued to be breastfed at the higher level until week 44 (one infant \geq 8 feeds/day; the other one \geq 13 feeds/day).

Similarly the Swedish study by Hornell et al. (1999) found a consistent motherinfant BF pattern over time. One group of 12 infants had \leq 5.5 breastfeeds/day at week two, and two-thirds of them kept this lower level of BF frequency to nearly the end of the study period (4.5-6 months); the remaining infants fluctuated from 5-8 feeds/day. For a second group (12 infants with >11 breastfeeds/day at week two), three quarters of these infants were fed at least eight breastfeeds/day throughout the six months and the remaining infants maintained >11 breastfeeds/day for 5-6 months (Hornell et al. 1999).

Thirdly, the total length of BF sessions/day and the longest interval between BF did not follow the variation of BF frequency. For instance, in this present study, AO's highest numbers of breastfeeds (11 feeds/day) was at 12 weeks, which was nearly double the feeds at ten weeks, but the total length of BF sessions/day and the longest interval between BF remained stable and similar to that at ten weeks. BA at week six was breastfed 21 times/day, the total length of BF sessions/day was 5.1 hours and the longest interval between BF was 3.7 hours. These were similar to when she had 15 feeds/day at four weeks (4.6 hours of total length of BF sessions/day, and 4.6 hours of the longest interval between BF).

Finally, interestingly, for the case AO at two weeks, the total length of BF sessions/day was nine hours, while the number of breastfeeds was seven times/day. It seems that the longer sucking duration compensated for the fewer breastfeeds, which may be a reason that lead to successful BF till 48 weeks. However, based on the mother's report, the longer total length of BF session occurred because the neonate was unsettled and had latch problems. Therefore, to better understand BF, it may not be enough to only look at specific data like BF frequency, intervals and duration but may be also important to get the mother's reasons for the BF practices.

In summary, mothers-baby pairs with different BF practices (such as at week two one participant had six breastfeeds/day and one had 17 breastfeeds/day) did BF up to 12 months and they all reported that they had BF successfully. Fewer feeds (such as fewer than eight breastfeeds a day that is other researchers are commonly stated) may be normal or it may indicate BF problems. Therefore, giving suggestions or identifying problems for BF may require considering the whole status of the infant and the mother (not just BF frequency) including health status and fussy periods and living environment.

5.10 Limitations & strengths of this study

This study had several limitations. Firstly, the sample size was relatively small and the majority of participants were European and more educated than the general NZ population, which restricts its generalizability. Another limitation is in the defining

of BF sessions. The problem with defining occurs because babies may spend a long time at the breast but not be BF; mothers say the infant started BF, if that is what she is ready to do but actually has not started yet (such as breast is 'out' and near infant's mouth). These may be innate weaknesses in trying to quantify BF sessions. Moreover, a 24 hours recall is too short to get enough data to show infants' usual feeding practices such as for observing exclusive BF and describing the longest interval between BF (for example if there is only one breastfeed during 24 hours).

Nevertheless, this study has some strengths. Firstly, the method of observing BF practices through a detailed 24-hour recall, in which the points in time of all activities that involved the infants during the last 24 hours were recorded. Using this method provides more detailed data and may clarify the mothers' thoughts and help them to remember their feeding practices. Secondly, this is a longitudinal study which allows observing BF patterns over time from the early weeks postpartum until week 48. Furthermore, there is a lack of published studies about BF practices in NZ. This study examined BF patterns in detail (for example how long breastfeeds are, the longest interval between BF, and BF frequency per day for infants who were fully BF or mixed feeding), and also traced several individuals' BF behaviors over time.

Chapter Six Conclusion

This study was conducted to observe BF practices and the association between BF duration and frequency per day during the first 12 months postpartum among group of NZ women in the Manawatu region. Breastmilk is not only the ideal food for the neonate but also benefits their growth and development (Ministry of health, 2008). The NZ government has made many efforts to prolong BF duration, such as launching BFHI and BFCI (Ministry of Health, 2002). More supporting scientific information may be required by the health ministry or other related health organizations such as the Plunket Society, so as to ensure they have correct and up to date information for making appropriate working strategies and guidelines for helping lactating women. At present, most studies have put more emphasis on identifying factors influencing BF. Only several studies have looked at how BF was actually practiced. Hence, this study makes a contribution to the literature.

A total of 61 healthy women aged 32.1±0.6 years volunteered for this study during their last stage of pregnancy. They had higher educational status, compared to the general educational level among the female population in NZ. The majority were European, not first time mothers and had experience with BF before.

Full BF was the predominant feeding choice during the first several months, especially within the first four weeks (81%-82% infants fully breastfed). After 16 weeks, more women began to introduce CF while continuing to BF. By 48 weeks, about half the infants were no longer BF (48%). These findings may highlight the

NZ society's BF practices of introducing CF early and not BF to12 months postpartum.

Concerning BF patterns, this study showed there was a wide variation of BF practices throughout the first 48 weeks postpartum. For instance, at two weeks fully BF infants breastfed between 5-21 times/day, and at 48 weeks BF infants receiving CF had 1-22 BF/day. The length of BF sessions also varied, at two weeks fully BF infants fed for 2-205 minutes/feed, and at 48 weeks BF infants receiving CF fed for 4-85 minutes/feed. The longest interval between breastfeeds tended to increase although there was still wide variation. At two weeks, the longest interval between breastfeeds for BF infants receiving CF ranged from 3-24 hours.

This variability of BF practices shows that there is a wide range of 'normal'. BF appears to be a personal behavior, and infants and mothers have their own BF style. There was a significantly positive correlation between BF duration and BF frequency/day at two and four weeks, and full BF frequency/day at four weeks. Frequent BF is one of the important approaches that may stimulate milk production and help build lactation at the early stage postpartum. However, it is possible and may be normal for the infant either to be breastfed less often than is commonly advised (8-12 times/day) or more. Hence, suggestions regarding BF practices may need to consider the individuals' particularity since BF is a personal behaviour and many factors could influence BF practices.

Suggestions for the future research:

This study observed BF practices during 24 hours, but did not separately analyse BF practices during the day and night time. There may be different BF practices with varied time frames, which were found in one study conducted in Sweden (Hornell et al., 1999). However, there is a lack of this information (about BF practices during day and night time) in the NZ setting. It may be necessary to study in the future in NZ in order to gain deeply understanding BF practices, so as to make more proper BF guidance for NZ infants.

With regard to the definition of the length of BF sessions, there is no clear and unified definition. The method used in most studies allows the mother to define BF sessions. However, how the start time of suckling may be defined varies with mothers. For example, some mothers may define it from the time of being ready to BF, some may from the time of latching the breast, or some may from the time of actually suckling. These can result in varying definitions of the length of sucking time per feed, and thus both the data and the results about the length of BF sessions seem to be less accurate. Additionally, there is also lack of the definition of BF sessions, when the baby is co-sleeping and comfort sucking. These issues are not discussed in the literature. Therefore, how to define the BF sessions and improve the accuracy of the data and the results may need research in the future.

Lastly, based on published studies, breastmilk supply is an important issue for BF. In NZ, insufficient breastmilk supply is one of the major problems during BF (Morton et al., 2012). Breastmilk synthesis may be influenced by BF practices, especially during the early stage of lactation (Kent, 2007). However, scientific evidence for the association between BF practices and breastmilk production is limited, and which

also did not examine in this present study. Hence, this may need to be observed in NZ setting in the future.

References

- Aarts, C., Kylberg, E., Hörnell, A., Hofvander, Y., Gebre-Medhin, M., & Greiner, T. (2000). How exclusive is exclusive breastfeeding? A comparison of data since birth with current status data. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 29(6), 1041-1046.
- Agampodi, S. B., Fernando, S., Dharmaratne, S. D., & Agampodi, T. C. (2011). Duration of exclusive breastfeeding; validity of retrospective assessment at nine months of age. *BMC Pediatrics*, 11(1), 80-85.
- Amir, L. H., & Donath, S. (2007). A systematic review of maternal obesity and breastfeeding intention, initiation and duration. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 7(1), 9-22.
- Amir, L., & Livingstone, V. (2010). Management of Common Lactation and Breastfeeding Problems. In I. Jatoi, & M. Kaufmann (Eds.), *Management of Breast Diseases* (pp. 77-103): Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Bachrach, V. R. G., Schwarz, E., & Bachrach, L. R. (2003). Breastfeeding and the risk of hospitalization for respiratory disease in infancy: A meta-analysis. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, 157(3), 237-243.
- Bartick, M., & Reinhold, A. (2010). The Burden of Suboptimal Breastfeeding in the United States: A Pediatric Cost Analysis. *Pediatrics*, 125(5), 1048-1056.
- Bartick, M. (2013). Breastfeeding and Health: A Review of the Evidence. Journal of Women, Politics & Policy, 34(4), 317-329.
- Bernard, H. R. (2011). *Research methods in anthropology: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Maryland, United Kingdom: AltaMira Press.
- Binns, C. W., Fraser, M. L., Lee, A. H., & Scott, J. (2009). Defining exclusive breastfeeding in Australia. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 45(4), 174-180.

- Brown, A., & Arnott, B. (2014). Breastfeeding duration and early parenting behaviour: The importance of an infant-led, responsive style. *PlOS ONE*, 9(2), e83893.
- Bunik, M., Shobe, P., O'Connor, M. E., Beaty, B., Langendoerfer, S., Crane, L., & Kempe, A. (2010). Are 2 weeks of daily breastfeeding support insufficient to overcome the influences of formula? *Academic Pediatrics*, 10(1), 21-28.
- Butler, S., Tukuitonga, C., Paterson, J., & Williams, M. (2002). Infant feeding and feeding problems experienced by mothers of a birth cohort of Pacific infants in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 9(1), 34-39.
- Butler, S., Williams, M., Tukuitonga, C., & Paterson, J. (2004). Factors associated with not breastfeeding exclusively among mothers of a cohort of Pacific infants in New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 117(1195), 908-918.
- Callen, J., & Pinelli, J. (2004). Incidence and duration of breastfeeding for term infants in Canada, United States, Europe, and Australia: A literature review. *Birth*, 31(4), 285-292.
- Campbell, C. (1996). Breastfeeding and health in the Western world. *British Journal* of General Practice, 46(411), 613-617.
- Caroli, M., Mele, R. M., Tomaselli, M. A., Cammisa, M., Longo, F., & Attolini, E. (2012). Complementary feeding patterns in Europe with a special focus on Italy. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 22(10), 813-818.
- Chatterji, P., & Frick, K. D. (2005). Does returning to work after childbirth affect breastfeeding practices? *Review of Economics of the Household*, *3*(3), 315-335.
- Chung, M., Raman, G., Chew, P., Magula, N., Trikalinos, T., & Lau, J. (2007). Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries. *Evidence Report/Technology Assessment (Full Rep)*,153, 1-186.
- Cope, M. B., & Allison, D. B. (2008). Critical review of the World Health Organization's (WHO) 2007 report on 'evidence of the long-term effects of

breastfeeding: Systematic reviews and meta-analysis' with respect to obesity. *Obesity Reviews*, *9*(6), 594-605.

- Da Costa, S. P., van der Schans, C. P., Boelema, S. R., van der Meij, E., Boerman, M.
 A., & Bos, A. F. (2010). Sucking patterns in fullterm infants between birth and 10 weeks of age. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 33(1), 61-67.
- Daly, S., Kent, J., Owens, R., & Hartmann, P. (1996). Frequency and degree of milk removal and the short-term control of human milk synthesis. *Experimental Physiology*, 81(5), 861-875.
- Darragh, A., & Lönnerdal, B. (2011). Milk: Human milk. In W. F. Editor-in-Chief: John (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Dairy Sciences (Second Edition)* (pp. 581-590). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Davidson-Rada, J., Caldis, S., & Tonkin, S. L. (1995). New Zealand's SIDS prevention program and reduction in infant mortality. *Health Education & Behavior*, 22(2), 162-171.
- De Carvalho, M., Robertson, S., Merkatz, R., & Klaus, M. (1982). Milk intake and frequency of feeding in breast fed infants. *Early Human Development*, 7(2), 155-163.
- De Carvalho, M., Robertson, S., Friedman, A., & Klaus, M. (1983). Effect of frequent breast-feeding on early milk production and infant weight gain. *Pediatrics*, 72(3), 307-311.
- Dennis, C.-L. (2002). Breastfeeding initiation and duration: A 1990-2000 literature review. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing, 31*(1): 12-32.
- Do Carmo França-Botelho, A., Ferreira, M. C., França, J. L., França, E. L., & Honório-França, A. C. (2012). Breastfeeding and its relationship with reduction of breast cancer: a review. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 13(11), 5327-32.

- El-Agamy, E. I. (2007). The challenge of cow milk protein allergy. *Small Ruminant Research*, 68(1), 64-72.
- Ekström, A., Widström, A. M., & Nissen, E. (2003). Duration of breastfeeding in Swedish primiparous and multiparous women. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 19(2), 172-178.
- Ertem, I. O., Votto, N., & Leventhal, J. M. (2001). The timing and predictors of the early termination of breastfeeding. *Pediatrics*, *107*(3), 543-548.
- Essex, C., Smale, P., & Geddis, D. (1995). Breastfeeding rates in New Zealand in the first 6 months and the reasons for stopping. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 108(1007), 355-357.
- Feinstein, J. M., Berkelhamer, J. E., Gruszka, M. E., Wong, C. A., & Carey, A. E. (1986). Factors related to early termination of breast-feeding in an urban population. *Pediatrics*, 78(2), 210-215.
- Feng, L. P., Chen, H. L., & Shen, M. Y. (2014). Breastfeeding and the Risk of Ovarian Cancer: A Meta - Analysis. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 59(4), 428-437.
- Fildes, V.A. (1986). *Breasts, bottles and babies: A history of infant feeding.* Edinburth, U.K.: Edinburth University Press.
- Fisher, N. (2010). *Prolonged and excluisve breastfeeding significantly reduces hospital costs.* UNICEF New Zealand.
- Ford, R. P. K., Mitchell, E. A., Scragg, R., Stewart, A. W., Taylor, B. J., & Allen, E. M. (1994). Factors adversely associated with breast feeding in New Zealand. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 30(6), 483-489.
- Fraser, D. M., & Cullen, L. (2009). Postnatal management and breastfeeding. Obstetrics, Gynaecology & Reproductive Medicine, 19(1), 7-12.
- Freeman, V., Hof, M. v. t., Haschke, F., & Group, E.-G. S. (2000). Patterns of milk and food intake in infants from birth to age 36 months: The Euro-Growth study.

Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 31(Supplement 1), S76-S85.

- Gartner, L. M., Morton, J., Lawrence, R. A., Naylor, A. J., O'Hare, D., Schanler, R.J., ... American Academy of Pediatrics Section on Breastfeeding. (2005).Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. *Pediatrics*, *115*(2), 496.
- Gatti, L. (2008). Maternal perceptions of insufficient milk supply in breastfeeding. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 40(4), 355-363.
- Giugliani, E. R. J., do Espírito Santo, L. C., de Oliveira, L. D., & Aerts, D. (2008).
 Intake of water, herbal teas and non-breast milks during the first month of life:
 Associated factors and impact on breastfeeding duration. *Early Human Development*, 84(5): 305-310.
- Grant, C. C., Wall, C. R., Gibbons, M. J., Morton, S. M., Santosham, M., & Black, R. E. (2011). Child nutrition and lower respiratory tract disease burden in New Zealand: A global context for a national perspective. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 47(8), 497-504.
- Grummer-Strawn, L. M., Scanlon, K. S., & Fein, S. B. (2008). Infant feeding and feeding transitions during the first year of life. *Pediatrics*, 122(Supplement 2), S36-S42.
- Haig, D. (2014). Troubled sleep: Night waking, breastfeeding and parent–offspring conflict. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health*, 2014(1), 32-39.
- Hauck, Y. L., Fenwick, J., Dhaliwal, S. S., & Butt, J. (2011). A Western Australian survey of breastfeeding initiation, prevalence and early cessation patterns. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 15(2), 260-268.
- Heath, A. L. M., Tuttle, C. R., Simons, M. S., Cleghorn, C. L., & Parnell, W. R. (2002). A longitudinal study of breastfeeding and weaning practices during the first year of life in Dunedin, New Zealand. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 102(7), 937-943.
- Hector, D. J. (2011). Complexities and subtleties in the measurement and reporting of breastfeeding practices. *International Breastfeeding Journal*, *6*(5), 2011.

- Henderson, J. J., Dickinson, J. E., Evans, S. F., McDonald, S. J., & Paech, M. J. (2003). Impact of intrapartum epidural analgesia on breast-feeding duration. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 43(5), 372-377.
- Henly, S. J., Anderson, C. M., Avery, M. D., Hills-Bonuyk, S. G., Potter, S., & Duckett, L. J. (1995). Anemia and insufficient milk in first-time mothers. *Birth*, 22(2), 87-92.
- Hill, P. D. & Humenick, S. S. (1989). Insufficient milk supply. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 21(3): 145-148.
- Hill, P. D., Humenick, S. S., Brennan, M. L., & Woolley, D. (1997). Does early supplementation affect long-term breastfeeding? *Clinical Pediatrics*, 36(6), 345-350.
- Hill, P. D., Chatterton, R. T., & Aldag, J. C. (1999). Serum prolactin in breastfeeding: State of the science. *Biological Research for Nursing*, 1(1), 65-75.
- Hill, P. D., Aldag, J. C., Chatterton, R. T., & Zinaman, M. (2005). Primary and secondary mediators' influence on milk output in lactating mothers of preterm and term infants. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 21(2), 138-150.
- Hörnell, A., Aarts, C., Kylberg, E., Hofvander, Y., & Gebre-Medhin, M. (1999). Breastfeeding patterns in exclusively breastfed infants: a longitudinal prospective study in Uppsala, Sweden. *Acta Pædiatrica*, 88(2), 203-211.
- Hörnell, A., Hofvander, Y., & Kylberg, E. (2001). Solids and formula: association with pattern and duration of breastfeeding. *Pediatrics*, 107(3), e38.
- Howie, P. W., McNeilly, A. S., Houston, M. J., Cook, A., & Boyle, H. (1981). Effect of supplementary food on suckling patterns and ovarian activity during lactation. *British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition), 283*(6294), 757-759.
- Huang, Y.-Y., Lee, J.-T., Huang, C.-M., & Gau, M.-L. (2009). Factors related to maternal perception of milk supply while in the hospital. *Journal of Nursing Research*, 17(3), 179-188.

- Hytten, F. E., Yorston, J. C., & Thomson, A. M. (1958). Difficulties associated with breast-feeding. *British medical journal*, *1*(5066), 310-315.
- IBM. (2011). Example: Boxplot. Retrieved from http://pic.dhe.ibm.com/infocenter/spssstat/v20r0m0/index.jsp?topic=%2Fcom.i bm.spss.statistics.help%2Fgraphboard_creating_examples_boxplot.htm
- IBM. (2012). Post hoc comparisons for the Kruskal-Wallis test. Retrieved from http://www-01.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?uid=swg21477370
- IBM. (2013). How does SPSS Statistics calculate percentiles in frequencies? Retrieved from http://www 01.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?uid=swg21480663
- Jansen, J., Weerth, C. d., & Riksen-Walraven, J. M. (2008). Breastfeeding and the mother–infant relationship—A review. *Developmental Review*, 28(4), 503-521.
- Jordan, S. J., Cushing-Haugen, K. L., Wicklund, K. G., Doherty, J. A., & Rossing, M. A. (2012). Breast-feeding and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 23(6), 919-927.
- Kelishadi, R., & Farajian, S. (2014). The protective effects of breastfeeding on chronic non-communicable diseases in adulthood: A review of evidence. *Advanced Biomedical Research*, 3(3), 1-18.
- Kent, J. C., Mitoulas, L. R., Cregan, M. D., Ramsay, D. T., Doherty, D. A., & Hartmann, P. E. (2006). Volume and frequency of breastfeedings and fat content of breast milk throughout the day. *Pediatrics*, *117*(3), e387-e395.
- Kent, J. C. (2007). How breastfeeding works. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 52(6), 564-570.
- Kent, J. C., Prime, D. K., & Garbin, C. P. (2012). Principles for maintaining or increasing breast milk production. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing, 41*(1), 114-121.
- Krall, E. A., Dwyer, J. T., & Ann Coleman, K. (1988). Factors influencing accuracy of dietary recall. *Nutrition Research*, 8(7), 829-841.

- Kramer, M. S. & Kakuma, R. (2012). *Optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding* (*Review*). The Cochrane Library: The Cochrane Collaboration.
- Lande, B., Andersen, L. F., Baerug, A., Trygg, K. U., Lund-Larsen, K., Veierød, M. B., & Aa Bjorneboe, G-E. (2003). Infant feeding practices and associated factors in the first six months of life: the Norwegian infant nutrition survey. *Acta Paediatrica*, 92(2), 152-161.
- Lang, S. (2002). *Breastfeeding special care babies*. London, U.K: Harcourt Publisher.
- Lawrence, R. A. (2000). Breastfeeding: Benefits, risks and alternatives. *Current Opinion in Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *12*(6), 519-524.
- Le Huërou-Luron, I., Blat, S., & Boudry, G. (2010). Breast- v. formula-feeding: Impacts on the digestive tract and immediate and long-term health effects. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 23(01), 23-36.
- Levine, M., Edelstein, J., & Foureur, M. (2003). The relationship between pregnancy planning and breastfeeding duration. *New Zealand College of Midwives*, 29, 20-22.
- Li, R., Scanlon, K. S., & Serdula, M. K. (2005). The validity and reliability of maternal recall of breastfeeding practice. *Nutrition Reviews*, *63*(4), 103-110.
- Manz, F., van't Hof, M. A., & Haschke, F. (1999). The mother-infant relationship: who controls breastfeeding frequency?. *The Lancet*, *353*(9159), 1152.
- Marasco, L., & Barger, J. (n.d.) Examining the evidence for breastfeeding infants on cue. Retrieved from http://www.feministezine.com/feminist/modern/Breastfeeding-Evidence.html
- Meedya, S., Fahy, K., & Kable, A. (2010). Factors that positively influence breastfeeding duration to 6 months: A literature review. Women and Birth, 23(4), 135-145.

- Ministry of Health. (2002). *Breastfeeing: A guide to action*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Minister of Health. (2007). *Health targets: Moving towards healthier futures* 2007/08. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. (2008). Food and nutrition guidelines for health infants and toddlers (aged 0-2): A background papers (4th Ed)- Partially Revised December 2012. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. (2008a). *Health targets: Moving towards healthier futures* 2008/09 – The Results. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. (2008b). Questions and answers- Food and nutrition guidelines for health infants and toddlers (aged 0-2): A background papers. Retrieved from http://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/qa-foodnutrition-guidelines-toddlers.pdf
- Ministry of Health. (2009). National strategic plan of action for breastfeeding 2008– 2012. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. (2011). How long to breastfeed. Retrieved from http://www.health.govt.nz/your-health/healthy-living/babies-and-toddlers/breastfeeding-0/when-baby-ready-other-foods/how-long-breastfeed
- Ministry of Health. (2012a). Frequency of breastfeeding. Retrieved from http://www.health.govt.nz/your-health/healthy-living/babies-and-toddlers/breastfeeding-0/getting-ready-breastfeed/what-expect-your-early-breastfeeding-experience/frequency-breastfeeding
- Ministry of Health. (2012b). *The health of New Zealand children 2011/12: Key findings of the New Zealand Health Survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. (2012c). *Report on maternity, 2012.* Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. (2012). Parental leave: A guide for employees, employers, and the self-employed. Retrieved from

http://www.dol.govt.nz/er/holidaysandleave/parentalleave/Parental-Leave-Guide.pdf

- Ministry of Education. (2013). Profile and trends: New Zealand's tertiary education sector 2012. Tertiary Sector Performance Analysis Ministry of Education. Retrieved from http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/_data/assets/pdf_file/0011/142877/2012-Profile-and-Trends.pdf
- Mitchell, E. A., Brunt, J. M., & Everard, C. (1994). Reduction in mortality from sudden infant death syndrome in New Zealand: 1986-92. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 70(4), 291-294.
- Mitchell, E. A., Tuohy, P. G., Brunt, J. M., Thompson, J. M., Clements, M. S., Stewart, A. W., ... Taylor, B. J. (1997). Risk factors for sudden infant death syndrome following the prevention campaign in New Zealand: A prospective study. *Pediatrics*, 100(5), 835-840.
- Mitchell, E. A., & Thompson, J. M. D. (2001). Parental reported apnoea, admissions to hospital and sudden infant death syndrome. *Acta Pædiatrica*, 90(4), 417-422.
- Moreno-Villares, J. M., & Galiano-Segovia, M. J. (2013). Chapter 43- Human Milk as a Bioactive Food. *Bioactive Food as Dietary Interventions for Diabetes* (pp. 555-570). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Morton, S.M.B., Atatoa Carr, P.E., Bandara, D.K., Grant, C.C., Ivory, V.C., Kingi, T.R., ... Waldie, K.E. (2010). Growing Up in New Zealand: A longitudinal study of New Zealand children and their families. Report 1: Before we are born. Auckland: Growing Up in New Zealand.
- Morton, S.M.B., Atatoa Carr, P.E., Grant, C.C., Lee, A.C., Bandara, D.K., Mohal, J., ... Wall, C.R. (2012). Growing Up in New Zealand: A longitudinal study of New Zealand children and their families. Report 2: Now we are born. Auckland: Growing Up in New Zealand.
- National Breastfeeding Advisory Committee. (2007). Draft background report. Protecting, promoting and supporting breastfeeding in New Zealand: A review

of the context of breastfeeding in New Zealand, and of the evidence for successful interventions supporting breastfeeding. Wellington: Ministry of Health.

- National Breastfeeding Advisory Committee. (2009). National Strategic Plan of Action for Breastfeeding 2008–2012: National Breastfeeding Advisory Committee of New Zealand's advice to the Director-General of Health. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- National Breastfeeding Campaign. (2010). *Breastfeeding in New Zealand*. *Did you know?* Retrieved December 06, 2013 from: http://breastfeedingnz.wordpress.com/breastfeeding-in-new-zealand-did-you-know/
- Neifert, M. R., Seacat, J. M., & Jobe, W. E. (1985). Lactation failure due to insufficient glandular development of the breast. *Pediatrics*, 76(5), 823-828.
- Nielsen, S. B., Reilly, J. J., Fewtrell, M. S., Eaton, S., Grinham, J., & Wells, J. C. (2011). Adequacy of milk intake during exclusive breastfeeding: a longitudinal study. *Pediatrics*, 128(4), e907-e914.
- Noonan, M. (2011). Breastfeeding: Is my baby getting enough milk? *British Journal* of Midwifery, 19(2), 82-89.
- Plunket Society, (2010). *Breastfeeding Data (Analysis of 2004-2009)*. Royal New Zealand Plunket Society.
- Pontin, D., Emmett, P., Steer, C., & Emond, A. (2007). Patterns of breastfeeding in a UK longitudinal cohort study. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, *3*(1), 2-9.
- Price, A., & Bamford, N. (1984). The breastfeeding guide for the working woman. London: U.K.: Century Publishing.
- Prime, D. K., Kent, J. C., Hepworth, A. R., Trengove, N. J., & Hartmann, P. E. (2012). Dynamics of milk removal during simultaneous breast expression in women. *Breastfeeding Medicine*, 7(2), 100-106.

- Quandt, S. A. (1986). Patterns of variation in breast-feeding behaviors. Social Science & Medicine, 23(5), 445-453.
- Riordan, J. & Wambach, K. (2010). *Breastfeeding and human lactation*. Sudbury, Massachusetts: Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Riva, E., Banderali, G., Agostoni, C., Silano, M., Radaelli, G., & Giovannini, M. (1999). Factors associated with initiation and duration of breastfeeding in Italy. *Acta Paediatrica*, 88(4), 411-415.
- Rondó, P. H., & Souza, M. R. (2007). Maternal distress and intended breastfeeding duration. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 28(1), 55-60.
- Ryan, K, M., & Grace, V. M. (2001). Medicalization and women's knowledge: the construction of understandings of inant feeding experiences in post-WW II New Zealand. *Health Care for Women International*, 22(5),483-500.
- Salariya, E. M., Easton, P. M., & Cater, J. I. (1978). Duration of breast-feeding after early initiation and frequent feeding. *The Lancet*, 312(8100), 1141-1143.
- Salone, L. R., Vann, W. F., & Dee, D. L. (2013). Breastfeeding: an overview of oral and general health benefits. *The Journal of The American Dental Association*, 144(2), 143-151.
- Sandström, B., Cederblad, Å., & Lönnerdal, B. O. (1983). Zinc absorption from human milk, cow's milk, and infant formulas. *American Journal of Diseases of Children*, 137(8), 726-729.
- Scott, J. A., Binns, C. W., Graham, K. I., & Oddy, W. H. (2009). Predictors of the early introduction of solid foods in infants: results of a cohort study. *BMC Pediatrics*, 9(1), 60-69.
- Shealy, K. R., Scanlon, K. S., Labiner-Wolfe, J., Fein, S. B., & Grummer-Strawn, L. M. (2008). Characteristics of breastfeeding practices among US mothers. *Pediatrics*, 122(Supplement 2), S50-S55.

- Smith, J. P., Thompson, J. F., & Ellwood, D. A. (2002). Hospital system costs of artificial infant feeding: estimates for the Australian Capital Territory. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 26(6), 543-551.
- Smith, J. W. & Tully, R. R. (2001). Midwifery management of breastfeeding: using the evidence. *The Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 46(6): 423-438.
- Statistics New Zealand. (2005). *Focusing on women, 2005.* Wellington: Statistics New Zealand.
- Statistics New Zealand. (2012). *Demographic trends: 2011*. Wellington: Statistics New Zealand.
- Statistics New Zealand. (2014). 2013 Census QuickStats about culture and identity. Wellington: Statistics New Zealand.
- Taveras, E. M., Li, R., Grummer-Strawn, L., Richardson, M., Marshall, R., Rêgo, V. H., ... Lieu, T. A. (2004). Opinions and practices of clinicians associated with continuation of exclusive breastfeeding. *Pediatrics*, 113(4), e283-e290.
- Thulier, D., & Mercer, J. (2009). Variables associated with breastfeeding duration. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing, 38(3), 259-268.
- Vivatvakin, B., Mahayosnond, A., Theamboonlers, A., Steenhout, P. G., & Conus, N. J. (2010). Effect of a whey-predominant starter formula containing LCPUFAs and oligosaccharides (FOS/GOS) on gastrointestinal comfort in infants. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 19(4), 473-480.
- Vogel, A., Hutchison, B. L., & Mitchell, E. A. (1999). Factors associated with the duration of breastfeeding. *Acta Paediatrica*, 88(12), 1320-1326.
- Watt, J., & Mead, J. (2013). What paediatricians need to know about breastfeeding. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 23(8), 362-366.
- Weaver, L. T. (1997). Significance of bioactive substances in milk to the human neonate. *Livestock Production Science*, *50*(1–2), 139-146.
- Wijndaele, K., Lakshman, R., Landsbaugh, J. R., Ong, K. K., & Ogilvie, D. (2009). Determinants of early weaning and use of unmodified cow's milk in infants: a

systematic review. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 109(12), 2017-2028.

- Woolridge, M. W. (1996). Problems of establishing lactation. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 17(4), 316-323.
- World Health Organization. (WHO). (2002). *The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding: A system review*. Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2007). Evidence on the long-term effects of breastfeeding: Systematic review and meta-analyses. Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- WHO, & UNICEF. (2009). Acceptable medical reasons for use of breast-milk substitutes. Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2013). Long- term effects of breastfeeding (A systematic review).Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Wright, C. M., Parkinson, K., & Scott, J. (2006). Breast-feeding in a UK urban context: who breast-feeds, for how long and does it matter? *Public Health Nutrition*, 9(06), 686-691.
- Yamauchi, Y. & Yamanouchi, I. (1990). Breast-feeding frequency during the first 24 hours after birth in full-term neonates. *Pediatrics*<u>.</u>86(2),171-175.
- Ziegler, P., Briefel, R., Clusen, N., & Devaney, B. (2006). Feeding infants and toddlers study (FITS): development of the FITS survey in comparison to other dietary survey methods. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 106(1), 12. e11-12. e50.

Appendices

Appendix A:



INSTITUTE OF FOOD, NUTRITION & HUMAN HEALTH

Massey Mother & BabyStudy Maternal data at recruitment

Date:		Start time:		End time:	
					
DoB:		Age:		Weeks pregnant:	
LMP		EDD (LMP) EDD (scan)			
Height (m):		Weight (kg): BMI			
Prepregnancy wt (actual):		Prepregnancy wt Confirmed? (desired):			
What do yo	What do you think about your weight gain?				
kg fat	% fat	% lean		Body vol (wt / density)	
Waist (cm)		Hip (cm)		W:H (waist / hip)	
Ankle circumference (cm)		Calf circumference (cm)		Arm circumference (cm)	- relaxed
Left	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right
Skinfold thickness - non-dominant side: Left / Right repeat girths & skinfolds x3 if necessary					

triceps	biceps	subscapular	iliac crest *
supraspinale*	abdominal *	thigh	calf
Weight gained:			
RMR			

Note: * not taken at recruitment

1. Have you given birth to any other children?

Yes = 1/No = 0

No	Sex	Age	Method delivery	Method of feeding (probe duration of bf)

2. Can you describe what you did yesterday, I am particularly

interested in all types of physical activity *(intentional and unintentional activity)*, such as hanging out the laundry, doing the gardening, dancing, walking, or going for a run.

If we start with when you got up yesterday morning... (go through to same time today).

3. Was yesterday a typical day in terms of physical activity? If not, what was different?

No =0 Yes = 1

4a. How often do you do 15 minutes or more of <u>vigorous</u> activity? (Such you're your heart beat is raised and you are out of breath)______times per week 4b. How often would you do 30 minutes or more of continuous moderate activity? (such as brisk walking)? ______times per week

Coding: 0, <1, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8+ times per week

5. Has this changed if you compare your activity level now compared to before pregnancy? If "Yes", why /how

No =0 Yes = 1

6. How would you describe your fitness level <u>now</u>?

- 1 Extremely fit 2 Moderately fit
 - 3 Moderately unfit
 -] 4 Unfit

Why do you say that?

7. How would you describe your fitness level before pregnancy?

] 1 Extremely	fit
---------------	-----

- 2 Moderately fit
- 3 Moderately unfit
- 4 Unfit

I'd like to ask you a few questions about your diet. When I use the term diet I mean what you eat and drink, not whether or not you are trying to loose weight.

8a. Who does most of the grocery shopping in your house?

- Me = 1 Partner = 2 Both partner & I = 3 Other = 4
- **8b.** Who does most of the food preparation? Me = 1 Partner = 2 Both partner & I = 3 Other = 4

9a. Which of the following foods do you eat and how often? (More than once per day, once per day, times per week, less than once per week).

	No. of times per week/day
Red meat (times per week)	
Chicken (times per week)	
Fish (times per week)	
Eggs (no. of eggs per week)	
Dairy (serves per day): no. glasses of milk (not in tea) yoghurt cheese	
Fruit (serves per day)	
Vegetables (serves per day)	
Breakfast (times per week)	

9b. How has your consumption of these changed since you became pregnant? (ask about specific foods above)

10. Are there any foods you are avoiding and why?

11a. How else has what you eat and drink changed since you became pregnant?

1 = More healthy, 2 = same, 3 = less healthy

11b. If different, why have you made these changes? (*Probe for detail of change and understanding – look for food that is added and deleted, e.g. if*

no longer drinks coffee what is drunk instead, as well as changes in serve sizes).

12a. Who (else) has talked with you about what to eat and drink when pregnant?

Probe fo	or:
0_	_no one
1_	_midwife
2_	_ doctor
3_	_partner
4_	mother
5_	_mother-in law
6_	_other relatives
7_	_ friends
8_ (who?)	_ other health professionals

12b. What other sources of information have influenced what you eat and drink during pregnancy? (*Probe for books, magazine info, advertisements....*)

12c. Were you given any leaflets about dietary advice while pregnant, and if so what was most helpful to you? *(if not mentioned probe/ show Food Safety pamphlet?)*

12d. (If not first pregnancy), how are the changes to what you eat and drink similar or different from previous pregnancies?

13a. Have you taken any vitamin or mineral supplements during this pregnancy? (*Probe for folic acid and iron*).

Yes=1/ No=0 If "Yes":

(i) What? Why? How often?

(ii) What? Why? How often?

(iii) What? Why? How often?

(iv) What? Why? How often?

(v) What? Why? How often?

13b. Has a health professional/ midwife recommended any other vitamins and/ or minerals?

14a. Do you currently smoke?

No = 0 Yes = 1 If "Yes":

What?

How many? (number per day/ week)

14b. Did you smoke previously? (get details)

No = 0 Yes = 1 Many years ago = 2

15a. Do you currently drink alcohol?

Yes = 1 No = 0

If "Yes"/ "Sometimes": **How much and how often?** (looking for amount & freq)

0	Non	-drinker	currently

- □ 1 less than weekly
 -] 2 1-2 times per week
 - 3 3-6 times per week
 - 4 Daily

15b. What type of drink(s)?

15c. Do you drink more on certain nights of the week?

15d. Have you changed your alcohol consumption since becoming pregnant? If yes, how? (probe amount, frequency, why, advice?) Yes = 1 No = 0

16a. Do you drink coffee or tea?

Yes = 1 No = 0 If "Yes":

What?_____

Coding: nothing=0, coffee=1, tea=2, herbal tea=3, all three=4, coffee & tea=5, coffee & herbal tea=6, tea & herbal tea=7

How often?

Separately) O Non coffee drinker currently O Non tea drinker currently 1 less than I cup per day 1 less than I cup per day 2 I cup per day 2 I cup per day 3 2-3 cups per day 3 2-3 cups per day 4 4-6 cups per day 4 4-6 cups per day 5 7 or more cups per day 5 7 or more cups per day

16b.What sort of coffee do you usually drink?

Coding: instant = 1, cappuccino = 2, latte = 3, plunger/pergolator = 4, all = 5

16c. Have you changed your coffee or tea consumption since becoming pregnant?

Yes/ No (coffee)	Yes/No (tea)	Yes/ No
(herbal)		

Coding: No coffee = 1, Yes coffee = 2, No tea = 3, Yes tea = 4, No herbal = 5, Yes herbal = 6

If "Yes" how? (probe amount and frequency)

Now I'd like to ask a bit about your plans to feed the baby after birth.

17a. What are your current thoughts about feeding the baby after birth? *(If just a short answer ask, "what are some of the things you considered when coming to that decision".*

If she says, "breastfeed if I can" probe as to what might stop her; e.g. what kinds of things are you thinking of when you say you'll breastfeed if you can?

17b. Thinking of (all) these reasons, what are the most important reasons for your choice of feeding? (ask to rank if more than one?)

17c. *(if planning to breastfeed)* **How important is it to you that you breastfeed your baby, on a scale of 1-10, with 10 being very important**. *(note any comments)*

17d. Do you have any plans to express milk if or when you go back to work?

17e. Who (else) have you talked to about how you will feed the baby? *(note down any comments she raises).*

Probe for those not mentioned:
0_no one
1_midwife
2_doctor
3_partner
4_mother
5_mother-in-law
6_other relatives
7_friends
8_antenatal group
9 other health professionals

17f. What are other sources of influence on your decision to feed? Start with asking the question open ended so we can gather any thoughts she has along with it, e.g. my midwife hasn't been much help but she.....

Lastly I'd like to ask a few demographic questions, such as your occupation.

18. What is your current occupation? If not working, what was your previous occupation?

19a. How many hours do you currently work each week?

b. How many hours do you usually work each week?

20. What was your highest (or plans for your highest) educational level?

21. Who are you living with now? (get number of others, e.g. children, etc.)

On own	☐ 1
With partner	2
With children	3
With parents	4
With others	5

Note – can tick more than one box, and note number of children.

22. What is your partner's occupation? *(if applicable)*

23. Could you tell me which ethic group you identify with?

~		
0	1	NZ European / Pakeha
0	2	NZ Maori
0	3	NZ Asian
0	4	Pacific Islander Polynesian
0	5	SE Asian
0	6	Chinese
0	7	Indian
0	8	Japanese
0	9	Other Asian (<i>specify</i>)
_		
0	10	Mid Eastern (<i>specify</i>)
0	11	Other European (<i>specify</i>)
0	12	Other (<i>specify</i>)

Appendix B:



INSTITUTE OF FOOD, NUTRITION & HUMAN HEALTH

Massey Mother & Baby Study

Infant birth data

Date:

Age of infant: _____

(collect this only if she has the plunket book—else ask her to bring book to Massey?)

INFANT DATA	Name:	
Gender	DOB	EDD
Birth data if possible (reported)	
Weight	Lengths (CH or CR)	Mode of delivery- include details re drugs
Head circ	Ponderal Index	Verified? Y/N

(before interview check how she planned to feed the baby)

1. Can you please tell me about feeding _____(Baby) yesterday (starting at 6 AM until 6 AM today). I'm interested in when he/she fed, what was given and how long and sleeping patterns. *(record on grid)*

2. Does (baby) use a dummy? (when/why?) Yes = 1 No = 0
3. Was yesterday a normal day? (if not how, why?)

4. How do you decide when to feed ____?

5. a. How did you feed baby after the birth? (probe for timing of first breastfeed).

b. If breastfed at birth and exclusively breastfeed in past 24 hrs- ask: Has _____ (baby) had anything to eat or drink other than breastmilk? (what, how, why, who gave/suggested, frequency).

Yes = 1 No = 0

What (include medicine)	How given (bottle, spoon, etc)	Why	Who gave	Who suggested	How often/ when gave

c. If only breastmilk, ask: Has he/she been given breastmilk by bottle, spoon or other method? (how, why, who gave/ suggested, frequency)

How given (bottle, spoon, etc)	Why	Who gave	Who suggested	How often/ when gave

Yes = 1 No = 0

6. What changes have you noticed since (baby) was born in terms of feeding and sleeping?

(if change initiated by parents) What motivated these changes ?

(depending on what said above probe regarding::)

- a. use of feeding bottle and what was given in it
- b. introduction of 'solids'
- c. advice/ pressure from other people
- 7. Overall, how do you feel about feeding the baby now?
- 8. Have you had any problems in terms of feeding?

Yes = 1 No = 0If "Yes" who helped/ offered advice (get details)

- 0 🗆 no one
- □ your midwife 1
- 2 □ hospital staff
- □ doctor 3
- partner 4
- mother 5
- mother-in-law 6

	7 Dother relatives
	8 🗍 friends
	9 🗌 plunket
	10 🛛 La Leche League
	11 Lactation consultant
	12 🛛 Other
9. Ha	ve you had any (other) support or comments related to feeding (baby)? ho, what , when, her response)
10. An	e you considering introducing any changes to feeding (baby) in the xt week? <i>(What? Why?)</i> Yes = 1 No = 0

Thank you for your help today. Are you willing for me to call you again in ___ weeks? Yes ____ Thank you, is there a time that would most likely be convenient for me to call you _____

No ____ Thank you for your help to this point, if you would like to become involved again please phone me at (06) 350 5532 or send an email. Is there any feedback you would like to give about participating in the research?

Description	Time 24 hr clock				Acti	vity	Am Tsp	ount v/ml		Ву
	0	6	0	0						

Image: Sector of the sector
Image: state stat
Image: Sector of the sector
Image: Sector of the sector
Image: Sector of the sector
- -

Data Grid Coding:

Activity:

- Feed: 1 breast
 - 2 ebm cup/bottle
 - 3 formula
 - 4 cm cows milk
 - 5 juice
 - 6 water
 - 7 other fluids (specify)
 - 11 solids (specify)
- Sleep: 21 continuous sleep
 - 22 asleep >50% time
 - 23 asleep 50% time
 - 24 asleep <50% time
 - 25 fully awake and unsettled
 - 26 fully awake and content
 - 27 comfort sucking.

- By Whom:
- 1 self
- 2 partner
- 3 sib
- 4 mother
- 5 minder
- 6 friend
- 7 health pro (specify)
- 8 other